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Report of the Directors and corporate governance 

 
 

Introduction 
Dŵr Cymru Cyfyngedig is the Company appointed by the Secretary of State for Wales as a water and sewerage undertaker 
under the Water Industry Act 1991 and is required to comply with the conditions set out in the Instrument of Appointment 
(the ‘Licence’) issued thereunder. References are made in this report to Glas Cymru – which is the holding Company of the 
Glas Cymru Group, and to Dŵr Cymru (Dŵr Cymru Cyfyngedig) - our principal trading company. We also refer to Dŵr Cymru 
Financing Limited, the ‘issuer’ company of the Group’s bonds. 
 
The regulatory accounts are separate from the statutory financial statements of the company, which are prepared under 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). There are differences between IFRS and the basis of preparation of 
information provided in the regulatory accounts because the Regulatory Accounting Guidelines specify alternative treatment 
or disclosure in certain respects. Where the Regulatory Accounting Guidelines do not specifically address an accounting issue, 
they require adhesion to United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (UK GAAP). Financial information other 
than that prepared wholly on the basis of UK GAAP may not necessarily represent a true and fair view of the financial 
performance or financial position of a company as shown in financial statements prepared in accordance with the Companies 
Act 2006. 
 
In this part of our report we describe our business model and strategy, our regulatory and operating environment, our 
investment programme and priorities for the AMP5 period (2010-2015), and the key business risks that we face. We then 
provide a description of our corporate governance arrangements and the statutory information required by the Companies 
Act 2006. This report contains information of a forward-looking nature with respect to the future business prospects and 
strategies of the Glas Cymru Group which has been provided by the Directors in good faith using knowledge and information 
available up to the date of this report. This report also contains forward-looking statements which involve risk and uncertainty 
because they relate to events and depend on circumstances that will occur in the future. Past performance is no guide to 
future performance and persons needing advice should consult an independent financial adviser. 
 
We are a water company run solely for the benefit of our customers 
Our business model is designed to deliver high quality drinking water and sewerage services to Dŵr Cymru’s customers at the 
lowest sustainable cost – with no profits being distributed to equity shareholders. Our model has two distinct features in that: 
(i) all financial surpluses are retained or reinvested for the benefit of Dŵr Cymru’s customers, and (ii) the Company’s assets 
and capital investment programme are wholly financed by bonds, loans and retained financial surpluses. To best achieve our 
business goals Glas Cymru was established as a company ‘limited by guarantee’. Glas Cymru has owned Dŵr Cymru (the 6th 
largest of the UK’s privatised water and sewerage companies) since May 2001. 
 
Our role is to provide a safe and reliable supply of drinking water and deal with the wastewater generated by over 3 million 
people living and working in Wales and adjoining parts of England. Through these services we fulfil a vital role in protecting 
public health and the natural environment. Dŵr Cymru employs some 2,050 staff, owns around 42,000 hectares of land and 
operates one of the largest networks of long-life assets in the industry to supply some 827 megalitres (Ml) of treated water 
and remove and treat 570Ml of wastewater every day. Our assets have an aggregate written down replacement cost of £25 
billion (excluding the recently transferred private sewer network), or equivalent to over £20,000 per household customer. 
 
We are ‘custodians’ of the water industry in our region for today’s customers and future generations. Our business model 
commits us to operate as a single-purpose business (we do not diversify into unrelated activities) and it is designed to ensure 
that every decision we make promotes the delivery of high quality and reliable drinking water and sewerage services at an 
affordable price. 
 
To achieve this purpose, our business model has a number of consistent objectives: 

 Safe drinking water and safe sanitation: 
The water and sewerage services we supply are essential to protect public health and the environment, so our goal 
is to deliver uninterrupted services that meet the highest standards. 

 Excellent customer service: 
Everyone who works for us knows that we operate our business on behalf of our customers. This means consistently 
hitting performance targets and getting things right first time/every time; delivering services that are uncomplicated 
and which meet the needs of our customers; and being proactive to do the right thing for our customers. 

 Efficient operation: 
We strive to use all our resources more efficiently every year. This means continuous improvement in the way we 
carry out our activities including targeted initiatives to lower our operational costs in real terms (subject to any 
significant new obligations), improve efficiency, deliver value for money in the supply chain, and develop our people 
to meet their full potential. It also means optimising the amount of green energy we can generate and minimising 
the impact of our business on the environment. 
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Report of the Directors and corporate governance cont’d 

 
 

Our efficiency is constantly monitored. At its peak 80% of our total operating costs were subject to competitively 
tendered arrangements, including the operation and maintenance of our water and sewerage assets which we 
insourced in 2010. Last year, to improve our efficiency and reliability of service, we insourced sampling and network 
and development services and put in place in-house arrangements for the direct provision of laboratory services. 
We continue to outsource the delivery of capital investment and maintenance services, and the management of our 
IT systems and data network services. 

 Efficient financing: 
Our business model is founded on giving bond investors a low risk and secure long term investment. This is 
important as the cost of finance accounts for around one third of the average household bill across the sector – 
which means a 1% increase in the cost of capital can add 5% to bills. A high credit rating is a key factor to keeping 
customer bills affordable, and information on our strategy for financing and credit rating can be found in the 
Financial Review. 

 Strong relationships: 
To succeed, we must have a constructive and open relationship with everyone we work with. Strong relationships 
with our regulators, with our staff and the trade unions, with our capital and supply chain partners, with our 
customers and those who represent their interests and with the many public health and environmental bodies who 
share our objectives are underpinned by regular communication in writing and in person. 

 Transparent and high standards of governance: 
We are a private Company but we comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code that sets the standard for good 
governance practice for UK listed companies. We have a very experienced Board with a diverse range of skills and 
experiences, and the Board is held to account for our stewardship of the business by the Members of Glas Cymru, 
individuals appointed by an independent panel, who meet the Board in person at two Members Meetings each year. 

 Essential services provided at an affordable price: 
As a Company owned on behalf of customers, and operating in a region where household incomes are generally 
lower than average for the UK, our business objectives have to be balanced with affordability (i.e. the impact on the 
customer’s bill). This will always be a major consideration for us.  

 
Our performance is subject to extensive monitoring by regulators and government 
Each year, regulators publish reports that compare our performance against that of other regulated water companies across a 
wide range of measures, including water and environmental quality, customer service, affordability, and cost efficiency. The 
ability of the Board to benchmark our performance against independent regulatory data is a key feature in our business 
model. 
 
The role of Ofwat (our economic regulator) is to set price limits for customer bills so they are no higher than they need to be. 
It does this by assessing the operating costs and investment we need to maintain our network of assets to meet the required 
standards and to deliver high quality services to customers. Ofwat also has a duty to promote the interests of customers by 
incentivising efficiency and good service and penalising inefficiency and poor service. 
 
Since privatisation, price limits have been set through a process of regulatory review every five years. Under the UK 
Government’s White Paper this would change at the next price review, in 2014, which would set prices and investment levels 
for the regulatory period 2015-2020 (‘AMP6’). This could see the introduction of separate price limits for ‘wholesale’ and 
‘retail’ activities and give some business customers the option to choose their retailer. 
 
The Consumer Council for Water (‘CCWater - Wales’) is the independent body established to represent the interests of 
customers. It investigates complaints, champions customer concerns, and audits our more general performance on customer 
service, as well as influencing policy. We greatly value having an independent voice for customers in Wales. 
 
The Welsh Government sets the framework for public policy matters for Wales, including policy on water and the 
environment. Drinking water quality is regulated and monitored by the Drinking Water Inspectorate and the Environment 
Agency regulates our environmental performance, especially the way we abstract water from rivers and reservoirs and then 
discharge wastewater after it has been cleaned. The Countryside Council for Wales (and, in England, Natural England)  
oversees our management of designated sites for nature conservation and how we conserve and improve biodiversity. 
 
The new Natural Resources Body for Wales will bring together the Countryside Council for Wales and the functions of the 
Environment Agency and Forestry Commission in Wales. From 1 April 2013 it will take over the roles of the Environment 
Agency and the Countryside Council for Wales, and will also have a key role in providing essential advice and guidance to the 
Welsh Government. 
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During 2012, we are expecting the Welsh Government to publish an update to its Strategic Policy Position Statement on 
Water 2011. We support the core principles of this, which seek to ensure ‘access to safe drinking water, maintaining water 
and sewerage services at an affordable price and compliance with statutory obligations that drive all round water quality’, and 
the stated environment strategy outcomes, namely that: 

 the high quality of our drinking water is maintained; 

 water resources are managed sustainably meeting the needs of society without causing damage to the 
environment; 

 water is used more efficiently across all sectors; 

 the quality of our groundwater, rivers, lakes and coastal waters is maintained and enhanced; and 

 diffuse pollution is better understood and action is taken to reduce and manage diffuse pollution 
 
In 2012/13 we will invest around £310 million to maintain or enhance our network of assets  
Our capital investment programme is a significant element of the total construction industry investment in Wales. In the first 
two years of AMP5, we have invested around £500 million to maintain and enhance the assets we rely on to deliver the high 
levels of water quality and environmental compliance and service our customers expect. Over the next three years, we will be 
investing around £1 billion to further improve the reliability and performance of our assets, one of the largest investment 
programmes we have ever delivered. 
 
Notwithstanding this high level of investment by the end of the AMP5 period the average bill for a water and sewerage 
customer has been forecast to fall by £30 per household in real terms. To achieve this we have put in place plans to 
significantly reduce our operating costs, and we are on track to reduce the costs we can directly manage or influence by 
around 20% by the end of the period. At the same time, we must maintain or improve our performance to meet the 
‘serviceability’ targets set out in the Final Determination, which are also very challenging. 
 
There are 20 of these measures over four service areas – and if we do not meet them, this could in some circumstances lead 
to financial penalties at the time of the next price review. 
 
Under our plans for the AMP5 period we will: 

 upgrade or renew facilities at 26 water treatment works (WTWs) to deal with deteriorating source water quality and 
other risks; 

 protect river and coastal water quality by delivering a significant reduction in sewer flooding and pollution incidents 
caused by breakdowns on our sewer network; 

 commission advanced sludge digestion schemes to increase our capacity to generate green energy and to 
significantly reduce our carbon footprint by 2015; 

 adopt more sustainable urban drainage schemes to reduce the number of spills from our assets to the environment 
and the risk of flooding from overloaded sewers; 

 address affordability by offering one of the widest ranges of tariffs and schemes available in the industry to help our 
least well-off customers; and 

 use the technology delivered by our £85 million AMP4 programme of IT-enabled change to improve customer 
service by giving first time resolution to day-to-day customer service issues and generally making Dŵr Cymru an 
easier company to do business with. 

 
At the end of year 2 of AMP5 we have made good progress in meeting these goals, and only three schemes were delayed by 
either planning or security issues. However, we still have more to do to improve our overall environmental performance. 
 
Output headlines for 2011/12 include: 

 completion of regulatory improvements at 5 WTWs; 

 183km of poor condition water main replaced (target: 174km); 

 9 of 11 scheduled schemes completed under Security and Emergency Measures Directive; 

 8 of 9 scheduled wastewater schemes completed; 

 25km of sewer rehabilitation (target: 20km); and 

 the risk of sewer flooding alleviated at 152 premises (target: 138). 
 
The Board has also approved additional investment of over £100 million to improve the operation and reduce compliance risk 
at our WTWs, and to increase our capacity to generate ‘green energy’. 
 
Within the capital investment programme new framework agreements have been put in place for major civils, pressurised 
pipelines, security and emergency measures and automation which have delivered significant supply chain efficiencies – 
typically of 6-12% on the larger frameworks. 
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Managing risk 
 
It is essential that we manage risk effectively in order to deliver high quality and efficient services to customers. 
 
Most risks can be mitigated by ensuring that appropriate controls are in place, but there are many matters which could have a 
material effect on our long-term performance that are outside our control. No company is insulated from the impact of 
economic recession, climate change or of a changing regulatory environment. The Board therefore commits significant time 
to review policies and corporate and operational strategies to mitigate risk. Some of these risks are specific to Dŵr Cymru or 
arise as a result of our unique business model, and others affect all companies in the sector but have a specific resonance for 
Dŵr Cymru. 
 
Company Specific Risks: in the past year Board discussion focused on the significant level of organisational and cultural 
change that followed our decision to bring back in-house the operation and maintenance of Dŵr Cymru’s network of assets. 
This has meant creating a single business where there were previously three, and in particular establishing a new 
management structure and a single set of HR policies for our staff. We have done this at the same time as we are introducing 
major changes to our IT and operational systems - which have fundamentally changed our working practices - and in a 
regulatory period in which we have the toughest efficiency challenge in the sector. These changes (which include much 
greater mobile working) have provided opportunity to refocus all aspects of what we do as a performance led and customer 
focused business. We also had some specific operational challenges to address in 2011/12 including, in particular, the need to 
achieve our leakage target. 
 
Sectors Risks: risks that affect all water companies to a greater of lesser extent include operational, financial and regulatory 
risk.  
 
Operational risks typically arise from greater variability in weather conditions, which can freeze operational assets or create 
rapid changes in temperature or flows through our network which cause essential equipment to fail. 
 
Any extreme weather - hot, cold, dry or wet - can also increase occupational health and safety risk. These risks are material 
for companies in the sector like Dŵr Cymru who have a disproportionately large number of operational assets – treatment 
works, pumping stations and service reservoirs – many of which are very small (which makes them especially vulnerable to 
changes in temperature and flow) and/or are located in remote rural areas (which can make them difficult to get to – for 
delivery of essential supplies or maintenance purposes). 
 
Drought can impact on our ability to maintain services to customers as the amount of water we can abstract is tightly 
controlled (with little headroom), which means that we are potentially as vulnerable as any other water company to variable 
weather conditions.  
 
We are also seeing an emerging risk associated with theft of copper and other metals which are causing risks directly to the 
operation of our works and indirectly through risk of interruption to communications networks and power supply. 
 
Financial Risks are generally heightened at times of economic uncertainty and this is kept under regular Board review. 
Affordability has never been more important, particularly in the region we serve, where some 30% of households spend more 
than 3% of their disposable income on their water bill. Even though we have lowest bill increase in the sector and by 2015 our 
average combined bill will be 6% lower in real terms than in the year before Glas Cymru acquired Dŵr Cymru, and are helping 
some 44,000 customers through our social tariffs, cash collection is becoming harder and bad debt is rising. We are also 
exposed to rising commodity prices, especially power costs which are around 13% of our total operating expenditure. We are 
mitigating this risk by appropriate cost hedging and forward purchasing of power and by maximising the green energy we can 
generate from our operations, which doubled last year. 
 
Access to capital markets is also a risk during this period of regulatory uncertainty, as rating agencies report that structural 
changes could affect the sector’s ratings and its cost of capital. This is mitigated for Dŵr Cymru at least in the short term as we 
have strong financial liquidity and we have secured the funding for our capital investment programme at least to the end of 
the AMP5 period. 
 
Regulatory Risk arises in two main areas: in connection with proposals for future market reform in the water industry, and 
with the continuing pressure on all water companies to adopt new and tighter standards of compliance, especially for the 
environment.  
 
The DEFRA ‘white paper’ (Water for Life) sets out some of the key challenges facing the industry in the years to come and it 
proposes a number of responses which together could lead to significant changes in the structure of the regulated water 
industry in England, including for example the possibility of allowing new market entrants to put treated water into existing 
water supply networks. The extent to which similar changes will affect the legal framework for the water industry in Wales is 
not yet known, but is likely to be clearer once the Welsh Government has published its updated Strategic Policy Position 
Statement on Water later this year. In addition, Ofwat plans to consult on the methodology for the next price review in the 
autumn of 2012. It is expected that certain changes will be proposed, including two price limits, one for retail and one for 
wholesale. 
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Our concern with new standards of compliance is that these will put upward pressure on costs which cause customer bills to 
rise or ‘squeeze out’ much needed investment to maintain and renew our existing network of assets, thereby increasing the 
risk of non-compliance with existing standards. It also reduces funds available to tackle other priorities - like reducing the risk 
of sewer flooding and providing the infrastructure needed to support economic development. 
 
Our view is that it is at least as important to the water environment in our region that we make sure our existing network of 
sewerage and wastewater assets does its job reliably and well. This is a big challenge (before consideration of any new 
obligations) because in the AMP5 regulatory settlement we have been funded to spend around £30 million a year to replace 
25-30km of sewer: a rate of renewal that implies that our sewers will last for 700 years, whereas the average ‘engineering life’ 
may be nearer 100 years. 
 
Our focus in this period of regulatory uncertainty is to ensure that, when they are discussing changes in structure or new 
standards of compliance, politicians and regulators have the information they need to consider the ‘trade-offs’ so that the 
best possible outcomes for customers can be agreed. We will then engage with our customers to explain what will be 
delivered - and, just as important, what will not - and what it will mean for service standards and bills. 
 
A good example of changing compliance standards is the new EC Bathing Water Directive, which will come into effect in 2013. 
This will introduce a new and much tighter ‘excellent’ standard for bathing water quality, which will be required for the award 
of a Blue Flag, and will likely see bathing water compliance fall from 89% this year against the current ‘guideline’ standard 
(which compares to an average of 79% in England) to nearer 60% against the new ‘excellent’ standard. 
 
Another regulatory risk arises because Ofwat’s Final Determination for Dŵr Cymru in AMP5 is one of the most challenging 
since privatisation - we have the toughest cost efficiency targets in the sector, despite having the best record for efficiency 
improvements since 2001. Furthermore, Ofwat’s cost assumptions for the sector were based on benign economic conditions 
in which, for example, bad debts were assumed to be no higher than they were in 2008-09. 
 
 

Corporate governance 
 
We take decisions in the long term interests of the customers of Dŵr Cymru, and this objective underpins our whole approach 
to corporate governance. 
 
We comply with all the provisions of The UK Governance Code that apply to a company limited by guarantee and the 
following information, which is referred to in this report, is available on our website: www.dwrcymru.com/governance. 
 
1. Schedule of matters reserved for decision by the Board; 
2. Terms of reference of the Nominations Committee; 
3. Terms of reference of the Audit Committee  
4. Terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee; and 
5. Terms of reference of the Quality and Environment Committee. 
 
1. A report from the Chairman on the effectiveness of the Board 
The Board of Glas Cymru currently comprises ten Directors (including three Executive Directors) and we are collectively 
responsible for the long term success of the Company. My role as Chairman is to ensure that the Board operates effectively to 
set the strategic aims of the business, to ensure that resources are in place to meet these aims, and to review management 
performance and key risks. This means ensuring each Director has sufficient information to make informed judgements, that 
matters are fully debated, and that constructive relationships are maintained within the Board and with key stakeholders. I 
routinely meet with the Managing Director who - supported by an executive team comprising the Finance Director, the 
Operations Director, and seven other senior managers - is responsible for the day-to-day management of the business. 
 
We look to the Non-Executive Directors to use their skills and experience to scrutinise the performance of management in 
meeting our business objectives, to challenge and to help develop key aspects of strategy, and to monitor the integrity of our 
financial information and the robustness of systems of internal control and risk management. 
 
I routinely meet privately with the Senior Independent Director and the Non-Executive Directors and I consider all our Non-
Executive Directors to be independent of the Company, and one another, and to have sufficient time to fulfil his or her role 
effectively. 
 
In 2011/12, the Board met nine times, with six meetings held over two days. This gives the Board the time it needs to review 
progress against strategic objectives and to meet key business managers and, supplemented by visits to operational assets 
and meetings with regulators and advisors, to continually update our knowledge of the business. In the past year, topic 
specific meetings have focused on aspects of sustainability - succession and talent development of our people, and our energy 
use and capacity to generate green energy; our supply chain; improving customer service in front line delivery of water and 
sewerage services and in the operational control and contact centre; and changes in the regulatory environment ahead of the 
next price review. 

http://www.dwrcymru.com/governance
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We meet with our regulators to hear first hand their view of Dŵr Cymru’s performance. The Chief Executive of Ofwat 
attended the Board in March 2012, we met the Chief Inspector of the Drinking Water Inspectorate when she attended a 
meeting of the Quality and Environment Committee in July 2011, and the Environment Agency Director-Wales attended the 
Board in June 2012. 
 
Since their appointment to the Board in 2010/11, Menna Richards and Anna Walker have committed significant additional 
time to visit operational sites and meet key managers to familiarise them with the business, our risks and challenges, and the 
economic, competitive, and regulatory environment we operate in. The Board also has a process of continuous learning and, 
for example, I joined fellow Directors to receive an independent presentation from Dr Andrew Hughes of WS Atkins on 
reservoir monitoring and safety, which is a key issue for our business. 
 
We are committed to promoting diversity, non-discrimination, and equality of opportunity in the way we treat employees and 
prospective employees, visitors, clients, customers and suppliers. 
 
With regard to having an appropriate level of representation from women, we are making good progress toward meeting the 
objectives of the Davies Report. Currently, the Board includes two women directors and 20% of the first reports to one of the 
Executive Directors and 30% of Dŵr Cymru’s wider Leadership Team are women. Diversity, in all respects, is a key factor for 
the Nomination Committee when planning for board and executive succession and in our appointment process. 
 
A recent evaluation of the effectiveness of the Board was completed with assistance from Dr Tracy Long of Boardroom 
Review, who observed the operation of the Board and met all Directors privately before presenting her findings to the Board 
in November 2011. Following this, I believe we use the time the Board has together more effectively, with an increased focus 
on issues of strategic importance and risk, supported by a simplification of the way we review performance. 
 
Postscript from the Senior Independent Director: the Board has met privately and confirmed it is satisfied that Robert Ayling 
fulfils the role of Chairman effectively and that he has the time and capacity needed to carry out all aspects of this important 
role. 
 
2. Committees of the Board 
The principal committees are the Nominations Committee, the Audit Committee, the Quality and Environment Committee 
(‘QEC’), the Remuneration Committee, and a Finance Committee. After each meeting, a summary of matters discussed is 
reported to the Board, and committee minutes are circulated to all Directors. The Company Secretary is the secretary to each 
committee, which can engage the services of such advisors as it needs to fulfil its responsibilities. 
 
In addition to chairing or being a member of a committee, Directors commit additional time and challenge on matters of 
public health (Stephen Palmer), operations, engineering and procurement (John Bryant), customer service and regulation 
(Anna Walker), finance and audit (John Warren), finance, regulation and remuneration (James Strachan), communications and 
Member relations (Menna Richards) and government and regulation (Robert Ayling). 
 
(a) A report from the Chairman of the Nomination Committee 

 Chairman: Robert Ayling 

 Members: Each of the Non-Executive Directors and Nigel Annett 
 
The role of this Committee is to ensure that plans are in place for orderly succession for appointment to the Board. We 
therefore look at the size, structure, and composition of the Board (and the skills, knowledge and experience around the 
Board table) and, where appropriate, recommend candidates for Board appointment. 
 
The priority this year had been to find a successor for Anthony Hobson as chairman of our Audit Committee and in this task 
we have been advised by The Miles Partnership, who produced a list of exceptional candidates. John Warren came through 
that selection process as the strongest candidate and met most closely the high standards and the particular experience we 
were looking for, and he was appointed to the Board in May 2012.  
 
In the last five years, we have seen three Non-Executive directors retire from the Board and appointed five new directors, and 
the final phase of our Board succession plan will conclude when John Bryant, the last of our original Non-Executive Directors, 
will stand down in 2013. Our priority next year will therefore be to appoint a Non-Executive director with a mix of skills and 
experience in operations, engineering, and procurement. 
 
(b) A report from the Chairman of the Audit Committee 

 Chairman: Anthony Hobson (John Warren – Chairman Designate) 

 Members: Menna Richards, John Warren and Robert Ayling 
 
The Audit Committee meets four times a year, including two meetings where we focus primarily on a review of the Group’s 
preliminary and interim financial results and related areas of judgement and accounting policy. At each meeting, we review 
the progress and findings of the external and internal audit programmes through which we challenge management’s 
assessment of key financial and business risks and the mitigation strategies put in place to manage them. 
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In this we are supported (at the Committee’s invitation) by the Finance Director, the Head of Internal Audit and the external 
auditors, who attend each meeting, and by the Managing and Operations Directors who attend at least one meeting a year. 
 
A standing report at each meeting is an update on substantive issues relating to water industry regulation and compliance, 
prosecutions and matters of legal dispute. This also covers major insurance claims, tax compliance, fraud and health and 
safety, as well as aspects of information management. We also receive a separate report on disclosures under the Board’s 
whistleblowing policy. 
 
Other topics we routinely review include business continuity, the Board’s quarterly report to Glas Cymru’s investors, treasury 
policy and controls (which we reviewed twice last year given volatility in financial markets), and arrangements to ensure the 
integrity of regulatory reporting. In 2011/12, the Audit Committee also oversaw a second phase of external benchmarking of 
internal audit, a biannual review of Staff Compliance Guidelines, and we instigated a review that led to the adoption of an 
online training tool for policy and new obligations. 
 
External audit services are provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. Our policy is that the external auditors will not be used 
for internal audit services, and that all non-audit work above a threshold of £25,000 will be subject to prior competitive 
tendering and approval by the chairman of the Audit Committee. As a result, I am satisfied that audit independence cannot be 
impaired by the award of non-audit work. 
 
The role of independent audit is to provide assurance and to advise management and the Board on the extent to which 
systems of internal control and arrangements to manage risk are appropriate. Audit plans are focused on areas of greatest risk 
to the business. 
 
The Audit Committee has approved the external and internal audit plans for 2012/13 and has met privately with each of the 
auditors (without executives present) as part of an annual review of audit independence. On the basis of this work, and 
regular meetings with management, we have concluded that external and internal audit services continue to be effective. A 
change in 2011/12 was the redirection of internal audit resources – at a time of significant business change – to support 
continuous improvement, with up to 20% of resources at any time advising on issues such as systems development, control 
environment, policy and procedure and general advice. They also assisted operational colleagues in water treatment works 
and drinking water safety plan risk assessments, which contributed to added value outcomes in the form of staff training and 
development and communication. This is good use of audit resources and we have supported the continuation of this 
approach in 2012/13.  
 
Postscript from the Chairman of the Board: I am satisfied that Anthony Hobson and John Warren each has the relevant 
financial qualification and experience to be chairman of the Audit Committee and the time and capacity needed to fulfil this 
important role effectively. 
 
(c) A report from the Chairman of QEC  

 Chairman: John Bryant 

 Members: Professor Stephen Palmer, Robert Ayling, Nigel Annett and Peter Perry 
 
We consider QEC to be unique to Glas Cymru’s business model and governance. We meet every month to oversee operational 
performance against regulatory measures and the delivery of key strategic goals and to provide assurance to the Board that 
Dŵr Cymru’s obligations as a water and sewerage undertaker are not compromised or put at risk. QEC is also different as we 
are advised by two independent experts who attend all our meetings. Our advisor on the public health and operational 
aspects of water supply is Andrew Davies, and on matters of environmental management we are advised by Professor Lynda 
Warren. 
 
At our meetings we discuss issues which enables QEC to give the Board an independent view of: 

 operational policy and practice in relation to matters of public health, drinking water and environmental regulations 
and as regards occupational health and safety; 

 management’s assessment and mitigation of operational and quality risk; 

 strategies to improve customer service or develop a more sustainable water or wastewater business based on 
industry best practice; and 

 the response to any significant water quality or environmental incident (or near-miss), to ensure that lessons from 
these, or any weakness identified though internal audit, are learned. 

 
The decision two years ago to take direct management responsibility for water and wastewater operations resulted in a 
significant restructuring of the business and a change in the risk profile of the business, at a time when we needed to improve 
in a number of areas where Dŵr Cymru’s relative performance had slipped. This has been evident in the QEC agenda since 
that time. 
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Report of the Directors and corporate governance cont’d 

 
 
(d) Remuneration Committee 
The membership and the role and responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are described in the 2012 Remuneration 
Report which follows later in this report. This includes a summary of key issues discussed by the Committee last year and of 
the remuneration policy and arrangements approved for 2012/13. 
 
(e) A report from the Chairman of the Finance Committee 

 Chairman: Anthony Hobson 

 Members: Robert Ayling, James Strachan, John Warren and Christopher Jones. 
 
The Finance Committee serves just one purpose – it is the vehicle to approve financing and treasury related transactions 
where a decision is required between meetings of the Board. In 2011/12, it was necessary to invoke the Finance Committee 
processes on three occasions. 
 
3. Internal control 
The Board is responsible for the operation and effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal controls and risk management. 
This is designed to manage the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and comprises audited policies, and procedures 
designed to identify and manage the significant risks faced by the business. In considering this, we look at the materiality and 
the relative cost benefit associated with particular risks, having regard to position of the business and the risk to which it is 
exposed. The internal control systems are designed to provide reasonable (not absolute) assurance against misstatements or 
loss.  
 
The key features of our system are typical for a business of our scale and complexity. 
 
They include: 

 parameters of acceptable risk that are set by the Board; 

 key risks and hazards which are identified, measured and managed to an acceptable level; 

 clear management accountability for risk management, supported by regular risk reporting; 

 controls that recognise that the nature and balance of risk changes and evolves continuously; 

 financial systems and procedures for preparing consolidated accounts; and 

 procedures that govern the approval and control of major items of capital expenditure, the acquisition and disposal 
of material assets, and the entering into of any arrangement that gives rise to, or could give rise to, a material 
liability. 
 

The Board receives assurance from independent work by Dŵr Cymru’s Reporter (Black and Veatch) and from the programme 
of internal and quality audit, the major findings from which are reviewed at the Audit Committee or QEC. Risk is reassessed 
every quarter under a process chaired by the Managing Director, which submits an update to the Audit Committee and QEC 
every six months, and annually to the Board. The process to review the effectiveness of internal control includes discussion 
with management on significant risk issues and a review of plans for, and results from, internal and external audit. The Audit 
Committee reports the results of its review to the Board and the Board then draws its collective conclusion on the 
effectiveness of the system of internal controls. In fulfilling this responsibility, the Board considers periodic reports from the 
Audit Committee, QEC and from management, and relies on its routine monitoring of key performance indicators and 
monthly reports of financial and operational performance. Thereby, the Board reviews the effectiveness of the internal 
control system over the course of the year. 
 
4. Accountability and relations with Members and Investors 
 
Members of Glas Cymru  
The key role of our unpaid Members is to ensure that we remain focused on our primary purpose, which is to provide efficient 
high quality and affordable water and sewerage services to Dŵr Cymru’s customers. In fulfilling this important corporate 
governance role our Members act in a personal capacity. 
 
Members are appointed by the Board, but we can only appoint individuals recommended by an independent Membership 
Selection Panel. The role of the Panel is to recommend individuals who have shown they have the skills, experience and 
interests to be an effective Member. In addition, the Panel is required to ensure that overall we have a balanced and diverse 
membership which is, as far as possible, reflective of a broad range of customer and other stakeholder interests. A copy of 
Glas Cymru’s Membership Policy, and further details of the current Members can be obtained from our website. 
 
At the end of the annual general meeting (‘AGM’) in July 2011, 12 Members stood down having served a maximum three 
terms of appointment, and a further 12 Members will stand down for this reason after the 2012 AGM. Following 
recommendation by the Panel, the Board has recently approved the re-appointment of 19 Members whose term of office 
would otherwise have expired at the end of the 2012 AGM. At the date of this report, Glas Cymru has 72 independent 
Members, excluding the Directors of the Company who are also Members, and this will fall to 58 after the 2012 AGM. 
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Report of the Directors and corporate governance cont’d 

 
 
Communication with stakeholders 
Maintaining good and open relationships with Members and investors is very important. We continue to enjoy a high 
attendance by Members (around 70%) at our six monthly Members’ meetings, which gives them regular opportunity to meet 
the Board. At these meetings we provide presentations on company performance, developments and prospects and all 
Directors, including the chairmen of the key Board committees, are available to answer questions. 
 
After each meeting, all Members receive a written brief of issues discussed and the replies to questions asked. Between 
meetings, we keep Members up to date on key issues and developments through a combination of written bulletins from the 
Managing Director and updates delivered by email or via a confidential Members’ website. 
 
Investors receive a quarterly report from the Board and each summer we host an annual investor meeting in London. 
Following the announcement of interim and preliminary results for any period there are informal meetings with major 
bondholders and other investors, who may also request a meeting with a board member at any time. The Board receives a 
report following meetings with investors. 
 
Regular communication is also maintained with the Welsh Government and with each of the economic, water quality and 
environmental, and customer service regulators of Dŵr Cymru. 
 
5. Other statutory information 
Business review: The Companies Act 2006 requires that the Directors’ Report should include a Business Review which gives a 
fair review of the development and performance of the business (which is provided in the Performance Review section of this 
annual report) and a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that it faces (which we provided earlier in this 
Directors’ report). Information regarding the operational performance of the business and our approach to sustainability and 
corporate responsibility provided elsewhere in this annual report is incorporated into this Directors’ Report by reference to 
the extent necessary to fulfil the requirements of a Business Review. 
 
Directors: The names of the Directors are given on page 1 of this document. All Directors served throughout the year ended 
31 March 2012, save for John Warren who was appointed to the Board on 3 May 2012. At the 2012 AGM, all of the Directors 
will stand for re-election, save for Anthony Hobson who will stand down from the Board at the end of the 2012 AGM. This will 
meet the requirement under our Articles of Association for John Warren to seek election at the first AGM since his 
appointment to the Board, and for one third of Directors to retire by rotation. It will also meet the good governance 
requirement that John Bryant, who has served on our Board for more than 9 years, should stand for annual re-election by 
Members. The Board has endorsed the effectiveness and commitment (and, in respect of the Non-Executive Directors, the 
independence) of the Directors and recommends each for re-election. Further details are set out in the Notice of the 2012 
AGM. 
 
No Director has, or has had, a material financial interest, directly or indirectly, in any contract significant to the Company’s 
business and the Board has not been requested to use, and has not used, its discretion under Article 57 of Glas Cymru’s 
Articles of Association which allows the approval of a potential conflict of interest. 
 
Details of the remuneration of individual Directors and of the remuneration strategy approved by the Board are included in 
the Remuneration Report for the year ended 31 March 2012 contained in this annual report. A resolution will be proposed at 
the 2012 AGM to approve the 2012 Remuneration Report.  
 
The Company has in place Directors’ and Officers’ insurance giving cover against legal action brought against the Directors and 
an indemnity in circumstances where a director has not acted fraudulently or dishonestly. The indemnity is a qualifying 
indemnity for the purpose of the Companies Act and is for the benefit of all Directors. No claims have been made against this 
policy since the date of the last report. 
 
Employees: At 31 March 2012, Dŵr Cymru had 2,053 employees. We are on track to meet the programme announced in 2010 
under which by 2015 around 300 people will leave the business by a combination of retirement, natural turnover, and 
selective voluntary severance. Our success is dependent upon our having a highly committed and motivated work force and in 
other sections of this annual report we describe how we are engaging with employees and developing the talent and core 
competence of the business  
 
Occupational health and safety: We are committed to high standards of occupational health and safety and our like for like 
performance improved last year with fewer RIDDOR accidents, and we brought some 40 of our tier 2 subcontractors under 
our occupational health and management system for the first time. More information on our health and safety strategy and 
performance is provided in our 2012 Occupational Health and Safety Report which is available on our website. 
 
Research and development: We have developed relationships with university research departments and private companies to 
undertake investigations into issues that relate to our business objectives and priorities for our operational region. More 
generally, we keep abreast of research and development by selective participation in water industry research initiatives, most 
notably through membership of UK Water Industry Research Limited which manages and coordinates the research interests 
of UK water companies. 
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Report of the Directors and corporate governance cont’d 

 
 
Payment policy: Payment terms are agreed at the start of a relationship with a supplier and are only changed by agreement, 
and payment will be made in accordance with those terms, save where an invoice is contested. We will seek to remedy 
disputes promptly. Standard payment terms will be 30 days from date of receipt of a correct invoice for satisfactory goods or 
services which have been ordered or received, unless other terms are agreed in a contract. In 2011/12, the average payment 
period for the Glas Cymru Group was 62 days (2011: 55 days). The level of capital retentions varies from year to year and this 
affects the average payment period for the year. 
 
Corporate social responsibility: We have a firm commitment to environmental responsibility and to being a good neighbour 
and a trusted partner in the communities we serve. To earn this trust we have to show that we behave fairly and responsibly 
in the interests of customers, that we use resources wisely, and that we make an appropriate contribution to community. 
 
Political donations: It is Board policy not to make donations to political parties or to incur political expenditure and during 
2011/12 no donations or payments were made which are required to be disclosed under section 366 of the Companies Act 
2006.  
 
Welsh language scheme: We welcome dealing with customers and other stakeholders in Welsh or English and aim to provide 
an effective standard of service in both languages. Our Welsh Language Scheme is an approved scheme under the provisions 
of the Welsh Language Act 1993. 
 
Going concern: The Directors are satisfied that the business has adequate resources to continue in business for the 
foreseeable future. Accordingly, the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2012 have been prepared on a going 
concern basis. 
 
Auditors: PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP acted as the auditors to Glas Cymru for the accounts for the year ended 31 March 
2012. As part of the audit process we have confirmed that as far as each Director is aware there is no relevant audit 
information of which the auditors are unaware and that they have taken steps to be made aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information. A resolution to re-appoint 
PricewaterhouseCoopers will be put to Members at the 2012 AGM. 
 
Annual General Meeting: The 2012 AGM will be held on Friday 6 July 2012. The business for the AGM includes the approval of 
the Directors’ Report and Financial Statements and the Remuneration Report for the year ended 31 March 2012, the re-
election of all Directors, a resolution to authorise the Company to make donations to EU political organisations and/ or incur 
EU political expenditure up to defined limits and resolutions to reappoint the auditors and to authorise the Audit Committee 
to fix their fees. These resolutions are all matters of ordinary business - there is no special business. Further information in 
respect of all resolutions is provided in the Notice of 2012 AGM sent to the Members of Glas Cymru with this report. 
 

 
 
By order of the Board 
Richard Curtis LLB, ACIS 
Company Secretary 
9 July 2012 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
All documents stated as available on the Company’s website can be obtained from: www.dwrcymru.com 
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Operating and financial review  

 
 

Protecting public health 
 

Supplying safe drinking water at all times is our most important responsibility and this means that our 
tap water must be free from harmful chemicals and bacteria and have a good taste. 
 
Over the course of a year some 300,000 water tests are taken and analysed under regulations monitored by the Drinking 
Water Inspectorate (‘DWI’). In 2011 the high quality of the water we supply was maintained with 99.96% of samples taken 
and analysed meeting drinking water quality standards at customer taps. We also achieved our targets on four of the other 
five indices used by the DWI to measure water quality compliance at each point on the water supply system. 
 
Customer complaints and contacts about discoloured water were well down once again and are a third lower than five years 
ago. Iron is the main cause of discolouration and our compliance with the water quality standard for iron in 2011 was 99.80%, 
which is an improvement on the previous year when compliance was 99.56%. However, notwithstanding the water mains 
renewal programme of the last ten years, we still have more than 6,500km of unlined iron mains which can cause discoloured 
water and managing and mitigating this risk is a major challenge for us. 
 
Of the 22 events affecting water quality we notified to the DWI during 2011, just six were classified by the DWI as significant.  
This continues the very marked improvement on this key measure over recent years; in 2009 21, and in 2010 17, of the events 
we notified were classified by DWI as significant. 
 
Our accelerated investment programme to improve the reliability of our water supply network - based on our Drinking Water 
Safety Plans - continues to make good progress and last year we completed schemes at Alwen (Conwy), Cilfor (Gwynedd), 
Capel Curig (Conwy) and Penycefn (Dolgellau) and we are currently on sites at Llyswen (Powys), Bala (Gwynedd), and Sluvad 
(Torfaen). Our £120 million ‘Go to Green’ programme to rebuild, refurbish or upgrade 22 water treatment works across Wales 
has been agreed and will be delivered over the coming three years. 
 
The Water Health Partnership for Wales, established by Dŵr Cymru in 2006, continues to be an important forum in which 
health and water professionals from across Wales can share learning and improve inter-agency knowledge of public health 
and drinking water quality issues. We also continue to host events where we work with landowners and others to identify and 
agree on ways in which we can work together to manage catchments and protect raw water quality. 
 

Reliable sanitation 
 

Following the transfer of private sewers to the regulated water and sewerage companies in England 
and Wales in October last year, we are now responsible for maintaining more than 30,000 km of 
sewers, potentially doubling the length of our sewer network. 
 
As important for public health is reliable sanitation. Much of our sewer network is old and in poor condition and one of our 
biggest challenges is to minimise the impact of any blockages and other problems on the network. Prior to the transfer of 
private sewers, we typically dealt with just over 1,000 blockages every month; some months on from the transfer of private 
sewers, that figure has doubled. In more than 98% of cases, by responding quickly we manage to deal with the blockage 
without causing property flooding or environmental pollution.  
 
We have also commenced the process of transferring private sewage pumping stations and we estimate that by 2016 we will 
have to take responsibility for more than 600 stations to add to the 2,000 we currently operate. Many of these assets are in 
very poor condition. 2012 will also see the adoption of new ‘mandatory build standards’ in Wales which will require that 
developers build new sewerage assets to a standard that will allow Dŵr Cymru to take them over without delay. We are 
collecting separately all the costs associated with the transfer of private sewers and related assets and in due course we will 
be considering how best to recover these additional costs from our customers. 
 
Last year the total number of incidents resulting in the flooding of properties fell from 215 to 198, which is the lowest number 
for some years. Just 22 of these were due to hydraulic overload, which is where the sewer backs up during heavy rainfall due 
to lack of capacity; during the year we completed 35 sewer improvement schemes at a cost of £8 million to reduce from 267 
to 218 the number of properties at risk of repeat flooding due to hydraulic overload. 
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Operating and financial review cont’d 

 
 

Safeguarding our environment 
 
We collect and clean the wastewater produced by households and businesses across our region so as 
to protect public health and safeguard our rivers and coastal waters from pollution 
 
Operating our estate of ageing wastewater treatment works so that we protect our rivers and coastal waters – which are 
among the best in the UK – is one of our toughest jobs. In 2011, 22 of our more than 800 wastewater treatment works did not 
comply with the relevant numerical consent. On the measure of compliance against ‘look up’ tables, 99.72% of population 
equivalent was served by a compliant wastewater treatment works in 2011, down from 99.96% in 2010. Insufficient samples 
were taken at a further four works to demonstrate compliance. This is not a satisfactory performance and for Ofwat’s 
serviceability assessment we have judged our performance on above ground wastewater assets for the year 2011 as 
‘marginal’. 
 
Over the last 12 months we have ‘fast tracked’ a detailed turnaround plan, backed by an additional investment of £30 million, 
targeted at reducing the risk of failing compliance at the 47 most-at-risk works. This plan is progressing well and our 
performance to date in 2012 is better than in the same period last year - and we are on track to return our assessment for 
serviceability to ‘stable’. 
 
Continuing to renew and improve our wastewater treatment works estate will remain a priority for many years to come. 
 
Following implementation of a wide ranging pollution reduction plan, we have reduced the total number of pollution 
incidents in 2011 to 246, down from 260 in 2010. There were just 4 serious pollution incidents in 2011 which was a marked 
improvement on previous years. Last year we self-reported 37% of all pollution incidents and have a target to increase this 
figure to 50% in 2012. 
 
We continue to work hard to reduce the number of pollution incidents caused by blockages on our now much larger sewer 
network. Alongside upgrades and extensions to our ‘early warning’ telemetry system, initiatives in the year include teams of 
‘river rangers’, who walk our sewers located close to watercourses, and engaging with river users such as canoe and angling 
clubs. 
 
We have also carried out a detailed analysis based on more than ten years of data to risk score our sewers based on material, 
size, condition, location and other criteria so as to better schedule proactive work such as sewer cleansing and reduce the risk 
of incidents. Key to reducing problems caused by blockages and other equipment failures is a fast response and last year our 
average response time was just over one hour.  
 
We invested £32 million last year in maintaining and upgrading wastewater treatment works and during the year completed a 
number of schemes including Five Fords (Wrexham) and Denbigh. We are also currently on site or due to commence works at 
locations across our operating area, including Aberporth (Ceredigion), Narberth (Pembrokeshire), and Llanfoist 
(Monmouthshire). A further £6 million was invested in renewing 25km of sewers. In addition we invested £7million on private 
sewers and drains transferred to us in October 2011. 
 
Ensuring our treatment works and our sewer network safeguard our rivers and coastal waters from pollution is essential, not 
least because of the importance of our environment for the economy of our region. Wales, with only 15% of the British 
coastline, secured 48 Blue Flag awards – a third of the total awarded to all of the UK – for the 2012 summer season. All but 
one of the 88 EC designated beaches in Wales passed the mandatory European standard for coastal water quality in 2011. In 
addition, 53 Green Coast awards for rural beaches were won. As a result, the Marine Conservation Society has been able to 
recommend 121 Welsh beaches as having excellent water quality, 20% more than in the previous year and the most in Wales 
in the Good Beach Guide’s 25 year history. 
 
The new Bathing Waters Directive introduces a new ‘excellent’ standard which is tighter than the current ‘guideline’ standard 
required in order to win a Blue Flag award and this, alongside new land based requirements, is expected to reduce the 
number of beaches that will be eligible for a Blue Flag in 2013. 
 
We have also been working with the Environment Agency, Surfers Against Sewage and Pembrokeshire County Council to trial 
‘spill alerts’ on three beaches in West Wales to make beach users aware of bathing water quality. This proved extremely 
popular and plans are now in place to extend the scheme in the year ahead. 
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Operating and financial review cont’d 

 
 

Safeguarding our environment cont’d 
 
Wales continues to have some of the highest quality rivers in the UK and, as well as protecting our rivers from pollution, we 
must also ensure that we abstract for public water supply no more than is necessary. Key to doing so is encouraging our 
customers to value the water we supply and use it efficiently and on our part to keep leakage under control and down to 
economic levels. Last year we more than recovered the sharp rise in leakage caused by the 2010 winter freeze and we 
achieved our target for the year, bringing leakage down to a lowest ever level. 
 
Since the 1990s, we have halved total leakage from our water supply network and this together with lower demand for water 
from heavy industry has led to a 25% reduction in the amount of water we abstract for public water supply. This apparently 
relatively strong water resource position has led once again to speculation about the scope for large scale water transfers 
from Wales to the South and East of England which following two very dry winters experienced drought. 
 
Our position is that we do not, as things stand, have a surplus of water stored and available that could be exported easily for 
the benefit of both our customers and customers in those areas in England short of water. And with the prospect of significant 
reductions in our allowed river abstractions as a result of the Habitats Directive in the near term – and projections of much 
reduced river flows in the longer term as a result of climate change – our overall water resource position could deteriorate 
materially (see Looking Ahead). Building the new reservoirs and associated infrastructure that would be required for any large 
scale water transfer would require considerable economic and environmental justification and would only make sense if there 
were no cheaper and less environmentally damaging options. While large scale, long distance water transfers might not be 
economic as things stand, sharing of water resources closer to our regional boundary is more likely to be and we are 
considering all available options with our neighbouring water companies as part of our own water resource planning for the 
next 25 years. 
 
In order to maintain a healthy and sustainable water resource position, we continue to encourage sensible water use by our 
customers. Water efficiency is a core theme in our education programme and we promote water efficiency in other ways, 
including collaborative projects with the Environment Agency, the Welsh Government and the Energy Savings Trust as well as 
with social housing providers. Our ‘Be Waterwise’ communication campaign involves a series of initiatives highlighting the 
benefits associated with sensible water consumption. 
 
Customers opting for meters have been offered ‘Meter Welcome packs’ containing water and energy saving retrofit products 
and advice and we have undertaken over 150 business customer water efficiency audits in the year and, where appropriate, 
supplied and retrofitted water saving devices. We have also implemented an incentivised winter pipe lagging and 
communication programme (targeting those customers affected by the harsh winter of 2010) and have retrofitted our own 
offices as part of a ‘Do as I do’ campaign. 
 
Energy efficiency and reducing our carbon emissions continues as a priority for the business. Last year electricity imported 
from the national grid fell by 8%, while gas consumption reduced by 66%. As a result, carbon emissions fell by almost 35,000 
tonnes (12%) driven largely by our renewable energy generation which doubled for the second consecutive year. Our new 
Advanced Digestion sites, installed at our wastewater treatment works in Cardiff and Afan (Port Talbot), convert wastewater 
sludge into electricity thereby significantly reducing both carbon emissions and our energy costs. 
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Operating and financial review cont’d 

 
 

Meeting customer expectations 
 
We continue to improve the day to day service we give our customers. 
 
These included setting much shorter target times for responding to sewer blockages and other network problems as well as 
offering more ‘self-serve’ options and better real time information for customers on our website. We now text customers 
when there is, for instance, a planned interruption to water supply or any other widespread problem to keep everyone 
informed and this has reduced the need for customers to call us to report a problem or ask what is happening. 
 
A new and easy to follow bill layout – tested first with groups of customers – has contributed to the 22% reduction in 
customer calls and queries about the bill. By adopting new technologies we are now able to carry out planned work on our 
water network without interrupting supplies and last year only 116 customers experiencing unplanned interruptions to supply 
lasting more than 6 hours which is one of the best performances in the sector and a marked improvement on the previous 
year when the winter freeze caused a high number of interruptions. Targeted investment meant that by the end of the year 
just 151 customers were at risk of receiving a low pressure water supply. 
 
As a result of all these efforts alongside our customer first culture right across the business, customer satisfaction as 
measured by independent research has never been higher and now stands at 90%. The number of customer complaints has 
fallen by more than half and the number of written compliments has increased three-fold. Our customer satisfaction rating, as 
measured independently by the industry regulator Ofwat, was amongst the best in the sector with our billing team coming 
top for the second year in a row. Independent research with our largest business customers showed that 89% were satisfied 
with the service they get from Dŵr Cymru. 
 
We are developing a range of new products and services for our larger business customers, helping them to become more 
water efficient through the provision of meter telemetry, water efficiency audits and the proactive detection and repair of 
leaks. We are also investing heavily to provide a better, web based service to property developers, following a successful 
Developers’ Seminar with national developers, consultants and contractors. As a result, we have established joint working 
groups to review key issues such as the new mandatory build standard for sewers, sustainable urban drainage schemes and 
the forthcoming legal requirement to provide fire sprinklers in all new domestic properties in Wales. 
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Operating and financial review cont’d 

 
 

Employer of choice 
 
We employ over 2,000 staff and support a further 1,500 jobs in our supply chain to ensure our vital 
public services are maintained for our customers. 
 
Improving the safety and training of our workforce is crucial to our future success. The health and safety of everyone working 
for our Company is top of our agenda and last year on a like for like basis the number of reportable injuries fell from 24 to 21. 
 
Equally encouraging was the further increase in near-miss reporting, a key indicator for a strong health and safety culture. A 
host of initiatives to improve the health of our staff and to reduce the risk of accidents were introduced successfully during 
the year including, for example, a bespoke programme of training on manual handling for more than 700 front line colleagues. 
We now include in our health and safety reporting much of our supply chain, which adds some 1,500 people to the 2,000 
directly employed by the Company, and we now report our safety performance against this wider population. 
 
We made real progress last year in developing our capabilities as an organisation. We have invested heavily in the training and 
development of our front-line operational colleagues, gaining accreditation by City and Guilds for our water and waste water 
competent operator programmes. Our graduate and apprentice programmes are now well established, attracting high calibre 
individuals and are aligned to our succession plans. 
 
A new science laboratory was established in North Wales and a much larger laboratory for South Wales will be commissioned 
by the end of 2012 which will not only deliver some £1 million in savings but also enhance our overall science capability. We 
also strengthened our leadership team with a number of key external appointments. Overall, as a result of the investment we 
have made in all these areas, we are today a more resilient and capable enterprise than we were a year ago. 
 
We are starting to harness the benefits of our new Working Together Agreement, which we agreed with our trade unions last 
year. It provides good terms and conditions and employment security in return for employee flexibility. We are on track to 
achieve our cost efficiency targets and with new shift patterns we can now offer our customers evening and weekend 
appointments in the normal course. We have underpinned these changes with a customer service improvement training 
programme for our front-line employees. 
 
 

Community 
 
We encourage visitors to make the most of our visitor centres and reservoir sites which attract close to a 
million visitors each year. 
 
We manage over 42,000 hectares of land situated in some of the most beautiful parts of Wales. At our larger reservoirs we 
offer a range of recreational activities including cycling, fishing, sailing, canoeing, wind-surfing and diving, as well as offering 
picnic areas, walks and nature trails. Three of our larger sites have visitor centres and we have submitted planning 
applications for a new visitor centre and water sports centre at Llandegfedd Reservoir, near Pontypool, and also for an 
extension to our visitor centre at Llyn Brenig to provide a cycling centre of excellence (as part of a Denbighshire-wide 
community project to encourage mountain biking). 
 
Our reservoirs are looked after by a team of rangers dedicated to managing our facilities and the wildlife and special habitats 
that are in our care. The rangers also encourage visitors by hosting a range of activities including archaeological expeditions, 
stargazing evenings, fly fishing courses, charity events and sponsored walks, boat trips, as well as guided nature walks and 
wildlife tracking.  
 
All our main reservoirs have biodiversity management plans and we encourage conservation best practice across all our 
landholdings, including in the Elan Valley where a new nature reserve was created in 2010 at Dol-y-Mynach. We continue to 
provide practical support for a number of conservation projects in our region, the largest example of which is the Anglesey 
and Llyn Fens LIFE project, a five year programme led by the Countryside Council for Wales to bring 750 hectares of important 
wetland habitat, into favourable or recovering condition. 
 
We have a long established and very popular environmental education programme. In the last academic year some 14,200 
school children visited one of our education centres located near Pontypridd (Cilfynydd), Barry (Cog Moors), on the Denbigh 
Moors (Alwen) and in the Elan Valley, and over 13,000 children received lessons under an outreach programme in which our 
peripatetic teachers deliver water efficiency and safety lessons in schools and community groups. We also helped over 100 
final year students from Newport University who spent four training days with our environmental education team. 
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Operating and financial review cont’d 

 
 

Looking ahead 
 
Last year was the second year of our AMP 5 investment programme which will see the Company invest 
a total of £1.5 billion, including £100 million of accelerated investment that would otherwise have been 
included in our programme after the next regulatory price review in 2014. 
 
Our investment spend is prioritised to protect drinking water quality, safeguard our rivers and coastal waters from pollution, 
improve our cost efficiency and improve day to day customer service. Last year we invested £253 million (net of grants and 
financial contributions), split between water (£135 million) and wastewater (£118 million), and including over 180km of new 
water mains and schemes to reduce the risk of sewer flooding at 152 properties. 
 
Looking ahead, one of the most important challenges we face is how best to strike a balance between the need for 
investment and affordability. We employ a network of assets that would cost £25 billion to replace, and just maintaining and 
repairing those assets so that they continue to do the job required could absorb our entire capital budget. However, standards 
continue to rise and European Directives are likely to have a significant impact on what is required of Dŵr Cymru with, in 
particular, the transition to the new Bathing Waters Directive (starting this year before it comes into full effect in 2015) and 
the Habitats Directive (which is expected to lead to calls for significant reductions in our abstractions for public water supply 
from a number of sensitive rivers across Wales). This is in addition to the impact of climate change which is expected to lead 
to drier summers, impacting our water resource position, and more frequent high intensity storms, impacting our sewer 
network. 
 
These pressures to achieve tighter environmental standards will require additional investment over and above what is 
required to maintain the existing network and this in turn will put pressure on customer bills. Affordability matters a great 
deal particularly in our region where household incomes are lower with the result that some 30% of households spend 3% or 
more of household income on their water and sewerage bill, the second highest percentage in the sector. Some 44,000 of our 
least well off customers are currently benefitting from one of our social tariffs or our Customer Assistance Fund, a higher 
figure than for other water companies. Our goal is to secure for our customers and future generations the best possible 
balance between affordability and standards, making sure that new requirements pass cost benefit tests and do not 
compromise other more important priorities. 
 
We are better placed to secure this balance because of our particular business model and the fact that we have no competing 
priorities other than to deliver the best possible outcomes for our customers and the environment we look after. Since Glas 
Cymru acquired Dŵr Cymru in 2001 we have invested more than £2.5 billion on renewing and improving the assets we 
employ to deliver services to our customers and to protect our rivers and coastal waters from pollution. 
 
We have also greatly improved the cost efficiency of our regulated operations in that time such that our operating costs are 
8% lower today in real terms than they were in 2001, which is much the best track record in the sector. Financing efficiency is 
key and by having the strongest credit ratings in the UK utilities sector we are able to raise long term finance from investors at 
low rates of interest. Our operating and financing efficiency together have allowed us to carry out high levels of investment 
while keeping our customer bills affordable. In 2015, Ofwat projects that our average household bill for both water and 
sewerage will be 6% lower in real terms compared to what it was in the year before Glas Cymru acquired Dŵr Cymru. 
 
Considerable attention is currently being given by industry regulators and the Welsh Government and UK Governments, to the 
future challenges faced by the water industry and the potential role that market reform could play in meeting those 
challenges. Ofwat is consulting on its ‘Future Price Limits’ programme – wide-ranging proposals that include separate price 
limits for ‘retail’ and ‘wholesale’, incentives for system management and water trading, more emphasis on longer term 
outcomes and customer endorsement of company plans and priorities. We are dedicated to looking after the water industry 
in our region on behalf of today’s customers and future generations and we will always judge the proposed reforms in terms 
of the likely impact on our customers. We wholeheartedly support all efforts to put customers at the heart of regulation of 
the sector. Beyond that the key test for us is that any changes must not put at risk the availability of efficient, long term 
funding for sustained capital investment which we believe will continue to be the overriding requirement for a high quality, 
reliable and affordable service, both now and into the future. 
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Operating and financial review cont’d 

 
 

Performance Review 
 
We made real progress last year on most of the measures that matter for our customers and for the 
environment that we look after on behalf of all the communities we serve. 
 
We achieved a best ever performance on some and where performance fell short last year we have implemented turnaround 
plans, backed by investment, to secure the required improvements. 
 
The regulated water industry is particularly measureable which allows the Board to set targets for the business that are based 
on sector benchmarks and to judge where we stand compared with the best performers in the sector. We use a number of 
the key measures to make up our Performance Scorecard against which – alongside the achievement of cost efficiency targets 
- variable pay for every member of staff is calculated. Last year we achieved or beat the targets set by the Board for 15 of the 
18 measures on our Performance Scorecard. This represents the best overall performance achieved by the Company in recent 
years. 
 
  

2012 
 

2011 
At or better 
than target 

Safe drinking water    
Bacti compliance at WTW 99.96% 99.95%  

Reservoir integrity index 99.97% 99.97%  

Compliance with standard for iron at tap 99.80% 99.56%  

Mean zonal compliance 99.96% 99.97%  

Process control index 99.96% 100.00%  

Disinfection index 99.97% 99.88%  

Water quality events – level 3 and above 6 17  

    
Safe sanitation    
Sewer flooding – other causes 156 136  

Sewer flooding – hydraulic overload 30 47  

    
Protecting the environment    
Leakage (Ml/d) 185 199  

Number of serious pollution incidents 4 8  

Total number of pollution incidents 246 260  

Population equivalent: WwTWs compliant with numeric consent
1 

99.72% 99.96%  

Percentage of WwTWs compliant with numeric consent
1 

96.27% 97.14%  

    
Customer service    
Number of customers – loss of supply > 6 hrs 116 3,759  

Number of written complaints (stage 1 & 2) 4,660 11,033  

Number of unwanted telephone calls 204,895 432,101  

Customer satisfaction (SIM qualitative) 4.48 4.26  

 
1
 In addition, insufficient samples were taken at four WwTWs to demonstrate compliance. 
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Operating and financial review cont’d 

 
 

Financial Review 
 
Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig is the holding Company for the Glas Cymru Group and parent of the operational Company Dŵr Cymru 
Cyfyngedig. This review encompasses the Group’s results as set out in the annual report and accounts which are prepared 
under International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
Dŵr Cymru has delivered a strong financial performance during the year to 31 March 2012: cash flows, gearing and credit 
ratings have all improved in spite of continued economic uncertainty. Achievement of Ofwat’s Final Determination targets for 
the regulatory period to 31 March 2015 is a big challenge, in response to which we recently restructured our business 
operations, resulting in improved operational efficiency. 
 
Revenue 
Dŵr Cymru’s turnover in the year to 31 March 2012 was £695 million (2011: £677 million), primarily reflecting the price 
increase of 3.4%, which was the lowest in the sector. Additional revenue from new customers has been offset by household 
customers switching to metered charging. The number of customers signed up to our sector-leading range of customer 
assistance tariffs has continued to increase. As at 31 March 2012 some 44,000 were benefiting from one of these tariffs or our 
Customer Assistance Fund – which support those who have difficulty paying their bills – at an annual cost to the Company of 
£4 million.  
 
Operating expenditure 
Dŵr Cymru incurred total operational costs (excluding IRE and depreciation) of £273 million (2011: £265 million), with 
inflationary increases and costs associated with the private drains and sewers transfer being offset by efficiency savings – 
excluding private sewers and non-regulated activities we have delivered a real terms (before RPI inflation) operating cost 
reduction of some 3%. Ofwat’s Final Determination challenged Dŵr Cymru to reduce its day-to-day operating costs by some 
20%; we are making good progress to meet this target, which enables the forecast average household bill to fall by more than 
£30 in real terms over the five years to 2015. 
 
All water and sewerage companies need to draw on significant energy resources, particularly for water treatment and 
pumping processes, and Dŵr Cymru – with its network spread across Wales’s undulating topography – is no exception. 
Schemes to produce renewable energy from sewage sludge have been commissioned at Cardiff and Port Talbot wastewater 
treatment works (as part of a £75 million anaerobic digestion programme) with enough energy being generated onsite to 
power 8,000 houses. Power costs during 2011-12 remained stable at £34 million (2011: £34 million); the £3 million impact of 
the first year of the CRC Efficiency Scheme has been offset by the increase in our onsite generation. There remains significant 
uncertainty over future energy costs, and we have forward purchased around 70% of the estimated power requirements of 
the business over the remainder of the regulatory period to 31 March 2015. 
 
Customer debt recovery remained a high priority for Dŵr Cymru. In a difficult economic environment, in which water 
companies have no sanction to disconnect supplies to non-paying domestic customers, cash collection has continued to be 
challenging. The bad debt charge for the year of £27 million (2011: £22 million) represents 3.9% of annual turnover (2011: 
3.2%) and reflects a review of historical collection rates.  
 
Infrastructure renewals expenditure 
Expenditure on infrastructure renewals (IRE) has doubled on the prior year, rising from £40 million to £81 million – the higher 
figure reflects a greater focus on maintenance in year two of the Company’s AMP5 capital investment programme (2010-
2015).  
 
There has been significant catch-up in the mains in poor condition programme and a greater number of sewer rehabilitation 
schemes. Leakage activities directed towards meeting our leakage target set by Ofwat cost £6 million, while private sewer-
related expenditure amounted to a further £2 million. 
 
Financing costs 
Net interest payable (excluding loss on derivatives) of £185 million was £15 million higher than last year. This is predominantly 
the effect of a £14 million accounting profit recognised in the previous year on termination of finance leases. Retail Prices 
Index (RPI) inflation remained relatively stable on the reference dates applying to the indexation charge on our index-linked 
bond and finance lease inflation swaps. The average cost of debt during the period was 6.9% (2011: 6.4%). 
 
Dŵr Cymru has a number of derivative swap contracts which fix the interest cost or inflation-link the cost of debt and, while 
these are effective commercial hedges, they do not qualify for hedge accounting under IAS 39. Changes in market values can 
create volatility in the income statement and fair value losses in 2011-12 amounted to £138 million (2011: gains of £12 
million). There is, however, no impact on cash flows: the Company intends to hold these swaps to the maturity of the 
underlying debt and, over the life of the swaps, such gains and losses will revert to zero. 
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Operating and financial review cont’d 

 
 

Financial Review cont’d 

 
Loss before taxation 
The consolidated income statement reports a loss before taxation of £131 million (2011: profit of £70 million). Excluding the 
fair value movements discussed above, the profit before tax was £7 million (2011: £58 million). This underlying profit was 
made after funding a 1% real-terms reduction in customer bills and reflects in particular the higher level of investment in IRE 
during the year. 
 
Taxation 
The total taxation credit for the year is £33 million. The deferred tax credit arising in the year was £35 million. There was also 
a £24 million deferred tax credit due to the corporation tax rate reduction from 26% to 24% in future years and a prior year 
deferred tax charge of £30 million relating primarily to the deferred tax treatment of finance leases.  
 
The Group has tax trading losses carried forward of approximately £400 million which the Group believes should be sufficient 
to eliminate tax on trading profits in the remainder of the regulatory period ending 31 March 2015, subject to changes in tax 
law. 
 
Pension funding 
The statement of comprehensive income reports pension scheme actuarial losses in the year of £26 million and a balance 
sheet liability of £32 million. However, this is on an IAS 19 basis for accounting purposes and is not consistent with the 
actuarial valuation of the scheme for funding purposes. The latest such valuation of the scheme, as at 31 March 2011, showed 
that it was 98% funded with a projected deficit of £5 million. 
 
The sensitivity of the IAS 19 valuation to small changes in interest rate assumptions has increased considerably following the 
in-sourcing of the major operational contracts in 2010-11 and some 800 employees opting to transfer their past service 
benefits into the scheme. If the discount rate were to change by 0.1%, the balance sheet obligation as at 31 March 2012 
would increase or reduce by £6 million (2011: £5 million). 
 
Liquidity and financial reserves 
Dŵr Cymru aims to offer a secure, low risk investment to investors. By building and maintaining a strong financial position, we 
intend to keep our borrowing costs low, enabling us to finance future investment efficiently whilst maintaining affordability 
for our customers. 
 
On Glas Cymru’s acquisition of Dŵr Cymru in May 2001, gearing stood at 93%. Since then, the financial position has improved 
steadily, such that gearing had fallen to 65% by 31 March 2012 and ‘financial reserves’ (RCV less net debt) were £1.5 billion.  
 
On 6 July 2011 Dŵr Cymru (Financing) Limited issued £120 million B6 series index-linked bonds with a maturity date of 2048 
(as a tap of the £140 million existing B6 issue) to provide funding for Dŵr Cymru’s AMP5 investment programme. The 
Company redeemed the last of its junior (Class C) bonds during 2010-11, and the £2.7 billion of remaining debt comprises 
entirely of ‘A’ rated Class A and B senior debt.  
 
On 15 September 2011, Dŵr Cymru (Financing) Limited drew down £25 million of a £100 million facility with the European 
Investment Bank.  
 
As at 31 March 2012 the Company had total available liquidity of £516 million, including cash balances of £301 million, with 
funding in place for the remainder of the current regulatory period which runs to 2015.  
 
Credit ratings and interest rate management  
Dŵr Cymru has the strongest credit ratings in the water sector, reflecting the Group’s high level of creditworthiness. The 
ratings of the Company’s Class A and B debt at 31 March 2012 were A/ A3/A from Standard & Poor’s (S&P), Moody’s and Fitch 
Ratings. 
 
The Board has always adopted prudent financial policies, predominantly covering the fixing of interest rates and the 
investment of cash balances. Dŵr Cymru’s policy is to minimise its exposure to movements in market rates, with a minimum 
of 85% of its liabilities being fixed rate, index-linked to the UK RPI or matched by cash balances. The Board considers that 
linking debt to UK RPI inflation is particularly appropriate, as Dŵr Cymru’s revenues and regulatory capital value are also 
linked to RPI through the regulatory system operated by Ofwat. Implementation of the policies is delegated to a small team of 
specialists which operates to ensure that Dŵr Cymru meets the requirements of its licence, and therefore undertakes no 
speculative trading.  
 
As at 31 March 2012, approximately 65% of gross debt was index-linked via bonds and derivatives (2011: 63%), with the 
remainder fixed. The expected maturity of the outstanding fixed rate and index-linked bonds ranges from 2021 to 2057, with 
not more than 20% falling due in any two-year period, in accordance with our refinancing policy.  
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Operating and financial review cont’d 

 
 

Financial Review cont’d 
 
Capital investment 
Dŵr Cymru’s strong financial position has been built up over the last 11 years, and provides a stable base from which it can 
respond positively to the challenges of the economic recession and drive forward its continuing large capital programme.  
 
Dŵr Cymru works with an alliance of capital investment partners to deliver the investment programme at the best value for 
money for customers. Dŵr Cymru is planning to invest some £1.5 billion over the current AMP period which runs from 2010 
to 2015, bringing sustained improvements to customer service, drinking water quality and the environment.  
 
Total capital expenditure by Dŵr Cymru during the year (including IRE) was £262 million, bringing total investment during the 
AMP period to date to over £500 million. The Group plans to invest a further £1 billion over the course of the next three 
years, one of our largest ever investment programmes. 
 
Private Sewers 
On 1 October 2011 Dŵr Cymru Cyfyngedig assumed responsibility for managing the private drains and sewers in its 
operational area, potentially doubling the size of the network. Little information is available to judge the condition of these 
assets – and any attributable value – but they are typically expected to be poor and below the standard of assets that the 
industry is generally required to operate. In light of this, and the fact that they do not generate an increase in the regulatory 
capital value of the business, no value has been attributed to private drains and sewers in the balance sheet as at 31 March 
2012. During the year, Dŵr Cymru incurred associated costs of £6.9 million, of which £3.3 million formed part of the capital 
investment programme while the remaining £3.6 million were classified as operating expenditure. 
 
Regulatory arrangements have yet to be finalised with regard to the recovery of additional expenditure associated with this 
transfer. The treatment is expected to be via existing regulatory methods, at the 2014 price review or an earlier interim 
determination of the price control. As far as possible, it is expected that the performance of these new assets will be ring-
fenced so as not to distort the assessment of the underlying performance of the business. 
 
Looking ahead 
A key part of our strategy is to maintain the affordability of customer bills in the long term while at the same time maintaining 
the serviceability of the Company’s network of water and wastewater assets which have a replacement value of over £25 
billion. The Company remains prudently financed with gearing at 65% and good liquidity in these uncertain times. The Board 
considers that the current level of gearing will enable the Company to efficiently fund the AMP5 investment programme to 
2015.  
 
Ofwat has set us an efficiency target of some 20 percent in our day to day running costs. In addition to a headcount reduction, 
we will do this by exploiting our recent large investment in new technology, by eliminating the profit element, overhead and 
contract management costs of many of the previously outsourced services, and by investing in green energy and processes to 
reduce power costs. This involves considerable investment by the Company and forms part of our planned £1.5 billion 
investment programme to improve services. 
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Directors’ pay and standards of performance 

 
 
This report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006 and is fully compliant with 
provisions of The UK Corporate Governance Code (‘the Governance Code’). PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has audited the 
Directors’ emoluments table and the pension table on pages 24 and 25, and has reviewed the remainder of the report.  
 
Remuneration Committee 
The Committee is chaired by James Strachan. In 2011/12 the other members of the Committee were Robert Ayling, John 
Bryant, Anthony Hobson and Anna Walker. John Warren was appointed a member of the Committee when he joined the 
Board in May 2012, and Anthony Hobson will stand down in July 2012 when he retires from the Board. The Board considers 
that all the members of the Committee are independent and in the case of Robert Ayling that he was considered to be 
independent on his appointment as Chairman of the Company. The Managing Director and the Director of Human Resources 
attend meetings of the Committee by invitation (except where their own remuneration is discussed) and the Company 
Secretary acts as secretary to the Committee. The Committee was convened on four occasions in 2011/12. 
 
The role of the Committee is to approve, implement and keep under review the remuneration policy of the Board and 
specifically:  
 

(a)  to agree the policy and framework and service contracts for the remuneration of the Chairman and the Executive 
Directors and the remuneration framework for certain senior managers (the Dŵr Cymru Executive and Leadership 
Teams); and  
 

(b)  to determine variable pay arrangements that encourage and recognise good performance and that rewards 
individuals in a fair and responsible manner for their contribution to the success of the Company.  

 
 

In 2011/12 the Committee received independent advice from New Bridge Street (‘NBS’, a trading name of Aon Hewitt 
Limited). NBS advised on market best practice in the design of incentive performance arrangements, the benchmarking of 
Directors’ remuneration and fees and provided general remuneration advice to the Committee. The Committee also sought 
advice and information from Eversheds LLP (pension strategy) and Quantum Actuarial LLP (pension data). The Committee has 
concluded that there are no conflicts of interest in relation to these organisations supporting both the Committee and the 
Company in the implementation of its decisions.  
 
During 2011/12, the activities of the Committee included:  
 

 approving the 2011 Remuneration Report;  

 assessing performance achieved against the conditions attached to the 2010/11 AVPS and LTVPS and agreeing awards 
to be made to participants; 

 reviewing salaries and AVPS for the broader executive and leadership teams; 

 determining the structure of the 2011/12 AVPS, including minor changes to the Performance Scorecard; 

 consideration of remuneration and pension trends and best practice; 

 determining the salary of the Executive Directors and the Chairman’s fee for 2012/13. 
 

 
Remuneration Policy 
The current remuneration policy was approved by Members at the AGM in July 2011. It aims to provide a good alignment 
between the rewards payable to Executive Directors and the long term success of Dŵr Cymru. This is achieved by paying 
remuneration at levels which are sufficiently competitive to recruit and retain high quality staff and to ensure that the 
remuneration packages are structured so as to discourage inappropriate risk taking. 
 
The policy is delivered by: 
 

1. Setting levels of base salary and total remuneration that (when assessed against periodic market benchmarking) are 
considered to be fair and competitive having regard to an individual’s experience and responsibility. 

 
2. Encouraging improved performance by having a significant proportion of total remuneration being delivered via 

variable pay – although the majority of the package is ‘fixed’ to ensure that executives are not encouraged to take 
inappropriate risk. 
 

 
3. Focusing incentives on the relative performance of Dŵr Cymru – based on independent information published by 

Ofwat, the Drinking Water Inspectorate, the Environment Agency and the Consumer Council for Water, thereby 
promoting the objective of producing sector-leading performance in a transparent and accountable way.  
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Directors’ pay and standards of performance cont’d 

 
 
When discussing the remuneration policy the Committee considers remuneration arrangements across the business as a 
whole and considers the impact of the policy in light of broader social, environmental and governance issues.  
 
The executive remuneration package comprises five elements (base salary and benefits, two elements of variable pay (the 
AVPS and LTVPS) and a pension. The diagram below shows a breakdown of the value of the various elements of the 
remuneration package, assuming target level of performance is achieved. This shows that just over 60% of the total 
remuneration package is fixed, with just under 40% comprising variable pay. 
 
Policy for base salary 
Following a review in March 2012 the Committee has set the base salaries for the Executive Directors for 2012/13 as below. 
This was approved in the context of a staff increase of 3.2%, however, the Committee considered an increase of 2% to be 
more appropriate when compared to the positioning of the current base salaries and pay inflation in the executive pay market 
more generally.  
 
Nigel Annett (Managing Director)   £281,622 (2011: £276,100) 
Chris Jones (Finance Director)    £222,054 (2011: £217,700) 
Peter Perry (Operations Director)   £211,242 (2011: £207,100) 
 
Policy for variable pay Annual Variable Pay Scheme (AVPS)  
The maximum variable pay that Executive Directors can earn under the AVPS in 2012/13 is unchanged and equates to 100% of 
base salary. The achievement of variable pay is assessed across three components, as illustrated below. 
 
The Strategic and Personal objectives and the KPI targets used in the Performance Scorecard are agreed by the Committee so 
as to underpin the annual business plan approved by the Board. Furthermore, the same Performance Scorecard is applied in 
variable pay arrangements across the organisation, in order to promote a unified business culture and purpose, as well as 
demonstrating our performance assessment in a clear and concise manner. 
 
Each key performance measure (‘KPI’) used in the Performance Scorecard is aligned with the Board’s objectives to improve 
customer service and meet compliance and serviceability targets. The KPIs focus on key operational performance measures 
such as the provision of safe drinking water and protection of the environment. A sliding scale of performance is set for each 
KPI requiring stretch performance to deliver full payment for this element. 
 
Financial performance is measured by reference to operating cost efficiency with payment linked to the actual level of 
operating costs relative to budgeted levels of costs for the year as contained within Dŵr Cymru’s final business plan for the 
last price review, Ofwat’s 2009 price review Final Determination and the annual business plan approved by the Board which 
includes Internal Benchmarking Review (‘IBR’) efficiency projects. As with the Performance Scorecard, an operating cost 
element is also applied in all variable pay arrangements across the organisation. 
 
Details of the Executive Directors variable pay awards for 2011/12 are set out under the table of directors’ emoluments later 
in this report. 
 
Long Term Variable Pay Scheme 2010 (‘LTVPS’) 
The objective of the LTVPS is to align the longer term aspects of total remuneration with Company performance over the 
course of the five year regulatory period ending on 31 March 2015. The awards comprise a cash payment (we are not able to 
use shares as Dŵr Cymru is not listed). Under the LTVPS two types of cash award can be made:  
 

 A “Customer Equity Award”, which is measured by the creation of customer equity over the regulatory period. 
‘Customer equity’ is the Group’s financial reserves, i.e. regulatory capital value less net debt (as defined for the 
purposes of the quarterly Investor Report);and 

 

 A “Customer Service Award”, which is measured by the Company’s average ranking in the Ofwat league table for SIM 
over the last three years. The Customer Service Award is therefore informed by and rewards the Company’s relative 
performance compared with other companies in the sector. 
 
 

The LTVPS performance targets reflect the Board’s ambition that Dŵr Cymru should rank alongside the leading companies in 
the industry on key measures of quality and customer service. SIM comprises two measures of customer service. One is a 
“qualitative measure” reflecting the results of independent research carried out on behalf of Ofwat to capture customer 
satisfaction with the service they have received, and the other a “quantitative measure” which covers customer complaints 
and unwanted calls. 
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Directors’ pay and standards of performance cont’d 

 
 

Policy for Pension and Benefits 
The Executive Directors are all members of the Dŵr Cymru Welsh Water Pension Scheme (the Scheme), which is a defined 
benefit scheme. The Normal Retirement Age under this scheme is 60 and benefits accrue at 1/45

th
 of salary per year of 

pensionable service (except for Peter Perry who accrues at 1/60
th

 of salary for each year of pensionable service), subject to a 
maximum overall pension at normal retirement age of two thirds of final pensionable salary. The scheme also provides life 
cover of four times pensionable pay for death in service, a pension payable in the event of ill health and a spouse’s pension 
payable on death. Executive Directors also participate in non-contributory private health and medical insurance schemes. 
 
As reported last year, in response to the tax changes in pension tax relief for high earners, the Committee agreed that for the 
four executives affected by these changes (including the three Executive Directors), instead of funding the cost of the pension 
provision throughout the executive’s career (i.e. before retirement) the Company would provide for the additional value 
above the annual and lifetime allowances by way of an unfunded Employer Financed Retirement Benefit Scheme (EFRBS), 
where the cost of the pension is met by the Company after the executive’s retirement. 
 
The pension benefits earned by the Directors during the year are shown in the table below: 
  

Accrued 
pension 

(per 
annum) at 
31 March 

2012 

 
 

Real increase 
in accrued 

pension in the 
year (net of 

inflation) 

 
 
 

Transfer 
value at 

31 March 
2011 

 
Transfer 

value 
equivalent of 

increase in 
accrued 
pension 

 
 
 

Transfer 
value at 

31 March 
2012 

 
 
 
 

Contributions 
paid by 

director 

Transfer 
value of real 

increase in 
accrued 

pension, net 
of member 

contributions 
 £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 
N C Annett

1 
126,746 3,587 1,922,625 275,718 2,198,343 24,849 37,361 

C A Jones
1 

82,587 3,200 1,011,684 134,146 1,145,830 19,593 24,798 
P D Perry

2 
106,050 4,437 1,400,064 199,136 1,599,200 18,639 48,274 

 

1
 Accrued pensions include previous service in the Hyder Water and United Utilities Pension Schemes. Figures include both the 

standard entitlements under the Scheme (which are restricted in accordance with HMRC limits) and the top-up benefits which 
are payable under the EFRBS. 
2
 The accrued pension and transfer value at 31 March 2011 and 31 March 2012 allow for P D Perry’s augmented benefits at 

those dates. 
 
Policy for Chairman and Non-Executive Director Fees 
The Committee determines the fee payable to the Chairman of the Board and, separately, the Executive Directors and the 
Chairman approve the fee level payable to the Non-Executive Directors.  
 
During the year the review of the fees payable to Non-Executive Directors resulted in fees being increased by around 2%. 
Benchmark data provided by NBS reflected the new fee as broadly in line with mid-market levels. 
 
The fees payable for the financial year that commenced on 1 April 2012 are: 
 
Chairman 
£204,000  (2011: £200,000) 
 
Senior Independent Director 
£66,300  (2011: £65,000) 
 
Non-Executive Directors 
£56,000  (2011: £55,000)) 
 
The Chairman and the Non-Executive Directors are appointed under letters of appointment terminable by either party on 
three months’ written notice.  
 
Service contracts 
The Executive Directors have service contracts that are subject to a 12 month notice period and which do not provide for 
compensation to be payable in the event of early termination by the Company. At the Company’s discretion, an Executive 
Director may be paid base salary alone in lieu of notice. A significant element of mitigation is built into the contract should the 
Company choose to exercise its option to make a payment in lieu of notice. 
 
External appointments 
The Board recognises the benefit of broadened experience that might be achieved through the involvement of Executive 
Directors in external activities. Any appointment is subject to annual approval by the Committee and, subject to the 
Committee’s agreement, a Director may retain any fees. Only Christopher Jones currently holds such an appointment - he is a 
Non-Executive Director of the Principality Building Society, in respect of which he retains a fee of £35,000 per annum. 
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Directors’ pay and standards of performance cont’d 

 
 
Recommendation 
The Committee believes that the Remuneration Policy described in this report is aligned with the Company’s strategy, 
provides an appropriate balance between risk and reward and is sufficiently competitive to attract and retain high quality 
staff. This in turn ensures that it is well aligned to the long term success of Dŵr Cymru and the interest of its customers. The 
Committee recommends this 2012 Remuneration Report for approval by the Members of Glas Cymru. 
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Risk and compliance statement (incorporating the F6A Certificate and related 
matters) 

 
Ofwat requires companies to provide an annual risk and compliance statement.  The purpose of the risk and compliance 
statement is for the Company to confirm that it has complied with its relevant statutory, licence and regulatory obligations 
that have not been confirmed by other processes, and is taking appropriate steps to manage or mitigate the risks it faces.  In 
making this statement the Company has considered the following matters. 

 

Legal and regulatory obligations  

 
The Company has legal and regulatory obligations as a water and sewerage undertaker, including but not limited to its duties 
under the following enactments: 

 
 the 1991 Water Industry Act (as amended), 

 the 1991 Water Resources Act (as amended) and 

 the 1975 Reservoirs Act; 

 
including secondary legislation made under the above, such as the Water Supply (Water Quality) Regulations as made under 
the Water Industry Act (as amended), and also including its duties under the following other instruments: 
 

 the Company’s licence as a water and sewerage undertaker, 

 the Company’s licences to abstract water and 

 the Company’s licences to discharge wastewater. 

 
The Company reviews its performance against a wide range of measures as set out in the Operating and Financial Review, and 
draws upon a wide range of material, including the following: 
 

 monthly reports from the Executive Directors; 

 the monthly service performance report for the Company; 

 the minutes of the meetings of the Quality and Environment Committee and the Audit Committee; 

 the DWI Chief Inspector’s Annual Report on water quality; and  

 Ofwat reports on company performance. 
 

Protection of the appointed business  

 
The Company will have available to it (i) sufficient financial resources and facilities, (ii) the management resources, and (iii) 
the systems of planning and internal control needed to carry out, for at least the next twelve months, the Regulated Activities 
(including the investment programme necessary to fulfil the Company’s obligations under the Instrument of Appointment). 
All contracts entered into with any associated company include all the necessary provisions and requirements concerning the 
standards of services to be supplied by the company, to ensure that it is able to meet all its obligations as a water and 
sewerage undertaker; and the Company has sufficient rights and assets to comply with the requirements of paragraph 3.1 of 
Condition K of the Licence. 
 
The following factors have been taken into account in reaching this conclusion: 
 
a) the financial strength of the Company and the management and other resources available to the Company as recorded in 
the Regulatory Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2012;  

 
b) the bond programme of financing implemented by Dŵr Cymru (Financing) Limited, an associate company, inter alia, to 
provide future financing for the Company (including the investment programme necessary to fulfill the Company’s obligations 
under the Instrument of Appointment); 

 

c) the strong credit rating of the Company’s bonds; 

 
d) the results from the ongoing monitoring of financial, operational and compliance controls and the risk management 
process reported to the board via four formal committees; the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the 
Nominations Committee and the Quality and Environment Committee. The Group’s internal audit function has carried out a 
programme of work, which incorporates a review of the control environment; 

 
e) the annual review of the effectiveness of internal controls in compliance with the requirements of the Combined Code; and 
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Risk and compliance statement (incorporating the F6A Certificate and related 
matters) cont’d 

 
f) the Undertaking that Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig (“Glas Cymru”) has given following the acquisition of the Company, in which 
Glas Cymru confirms that it (and each of its subsidiaries other than the Company) will: 
 

 provide the Company with all such information as may be necessary to enable the Company to comply with 
the requirements of the conditions of Appointments, or such additional information as the Director may 
reasonably require about their activities and the financing of them; 

 refrain from any action which would or may cause the Company to breach any of its obligations under the Act 
or conditions of Appointments; 

 ensure that at all times the Board of the Company contains a majority of non-executive directors; 
 comply with the Principles of Good Governance and Code of Best Practice (or any successor document having 

a similar purpose or intent) as may from time to time be appended to or approved for the purposes of the 
Listing Rules of the UK Listing Authority; and 

 not make any changes to their respective Memorandum and Articles of Association without the consent of 
Ofwat. 

 

Customer expectations  

 
The Company considers it has taken appropriate steps to understand and meet the reasonable expectations of its customers 
as a whole with respect to the services delivered, the performance achieved, and the value for money provided. The following 
factors have been taken into account in reaching this conclusion: 
 

 ongoing analysis of a wide range of sources of feedback from customers, including follow-up calls to 
customers, analysis of the causes of customer contacts, monthly independent tracking surveys of customer 
satisfaction and monthly analysis of the levels and causes of customer complaints; 

 representations and feedback from customer representatives, including the Consumer Council for Water 
Wales; 

 the views of the Members of the Company; and  
 the Company’s absolute and relative performance under Ofwat’s Service Incentive Mechanism. 

 
A more detailed description of how the Company seeks to meet reasonable customer expectations is set out in the Operating 
and Financial Review.  

 

Management of risk  

 
The Company considers that it has in place appropriate and effective systems and processes to allow it to identify, manage 
and review its material risks. The following factors have been taken into account in reaching this conclusion: 
 

 the operation of a standard IT based risk management system (Driskall) which captures operational and non-
operational risk from within the business across all areas of activity, which is routinely reviewed and updated 
in monthly management meetings;  

 the output from a quarterly review of principal risks to the business by the Executive (and the changing 
assessment of risk from period to period);  

 monthly reports from the Executive to the Board on the most important current risks being managed by the 
Executive;  

 a six monthly review of the principal risks by the Audit Committee and by the Quality and Environment 
Committee of the Board (which includes the views of QEC’s independent advisors on water quality and the 
environment); 

 an annual exercise to understand the views of the Non-Executive Directors on the principal risks facing the 
business; 

 an annual review of internal control and risk management by the Executive, the Audit Committee and the 
Board to confirm that the Company’s control environment is robust and effective; 

 the findings from programmes of external audit and internal and quality audit which are risk based and 
approved by the Audit Committee of the Board on an annual basis; 

 periodic reports from the Executive to the Audit Committee or QEC or the Board (as appropriate) following 
customer service or compliance failures to demonstrate that lessons have been learned and improvements 
made or control systems tightened in relevant parts of the business; and 

 the effectiveness of the ‘whistle-blowing’ procedures within the Company which are regularly reported to the 
Audit Committee.    
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Risk and compliance statement (incorporating the F6A Certificate and related 
matters) cont’d 

 
Delivery of regulatory outputs  
 
As described in the Annual Performance Report, the delivery of outputs is not materially different to what was assumed in the 
2009 Final Determination. 
 
Link between Directors’ pay and performance  
 
The Remuneration Committee has put in place a framework for executive remuneration which establishes a strong link 
between executive pay and the performance – both service and financial – of the Company.  This has been approved by the 
Directors and is set out in full in the 2012 Remuneration Report (which is part of the Glas Cymru 2012 Annual Report) and 
extracted in the Regulatory Accounts which were approved by the Board at its meeting on 5 July 2012, and which were 
published simultaneously with this Risk and Compliance statement.  The remuneration framework is substantially unchanged 
from that approved by the Members of Glas Cymru at the 2010 Annual General Meeting. 
 
Disclosure of transactions with Associated Companies  
 
There were no transactions with any associated companies except for: 
 

     the Directors of Dŵr Cymru Cyfyngedig are also directors of other companies within the Glas Cymru Group. 
However, the emoluments of the Directors are paid in full by Dŵr Cymru Cyfyngedig as their activities are 
predominantly related to the regulated water and sewerage business. During the year the Directors’ emoluments 
amounted to £1,928,403 (2010-11: £1,780,337);  

     debtors include a loan to the Company’s immediate parent company, Dŵr Cymru (Holdings) Limited, of £320.5 
million (2011: £370.5m). The interest rate on this loan is 12%. Loan interest of £38.5 million (2011: £44.6m) has 
been waived by the Company during the year. The interest waiver is a practical alternative to funding the interest 
otherwise receivable by the Company by means of an ordinary dividend; and  

     the proceeds of the Group’s bond programme have been on-lent to Dŵr Cymru Cyfyngedig under an intercompany 
loan agreement. Under the terms of this agreement, the interest rates payable by the Company are based on the 
interest rates payable to the bondholders, after taking into account interest rate and currency swaps, plus a margin 
of 0.01%. 

 
Dŵr Cymru Cyfyngedig Statement 
 
At its meeting on 5 July 2012, the Board considered that, on the basis of the information presented in this risk and compliance 
statement and in the Annual Performance Report, which had been discussed with the Company’s Reporter, the Company is 
able to make this statement in accordance with Ofwat’s requirements. 
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Directors’ responsibilities for the regulatory accounts 

 
 
The Directors are required by the terms of the Instrument of Appointment to prepare regulatory accounts for each financial 
year in accordance with Condition F of the Instrument of Appointment and the Regulatory Accounting Guidelines.  In 
preparing the regulatory accounts, the Directors ensure that appropriate accounting policies have been adopted and applied 
consistently, that applicable accounting standards have been followed and that reasonable and prudent judgements and 
estimates have been made. 
 
It is the Directors' responsibility to maintain adequate accounting records and to institute and maintain systems and controls 
designed to safeguard the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of 
fraud and other irregularities. 
 
 
By order of the Board 
 

 
 
R G Curtis LLB ACIS 
Company Secretary 
 
9 July 2012 
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Independent auditors’ report to the Water Services Regulation Authority (the 
Authority, referred to as the “WSRA” and the Directors of Dŵr Cymru 
Cyfyngedig  

 
We have audited the regulatory accounts of  Dwr Cymru Cyfyngedig (“the Company”) for the year ended 31 March 2012 on 
pages 32 to 81 (the “Regulatory Accounts”) which comprise: 
 

 the regulatory historical cost accounting statements comprising the regulatory historical cost profit and loss account, the 
regulatory historical cost balance sheet, the regulatory historical cost statement of total recognised gains and losses and 
the historical cost reconciliation between the statutory financial statements and the Regulatory Accounts; and 
 

 the regulatory current cost accounting statements, for the appointed business comprising the current cost profit and loss 
account, the current cost balance sheet, the current cost cash flow statement and the related notes including the 
Statement of Accounting Policies. 
 

These Regulatory Accounts have been prepared in accordance with the basis of preparation and accounting policies set out in 
the Statement of Accounting Policies.  
 
This report is made, on terms that have been agreed, solely to the Company and the WSRA in order to meet the requirements 
of Condition F of the Instrument of Appointment granted by the Secretary of State for the Environment to the Company as a 
water and sewage undertaker under the Water Industry Act 1991 (“Condition F”). Our audit work has been undertaken so that 
we might state to the Company and the WSRA those matters that we have agreed to state to them in our report, in order (a) 
to assist the Company to meet its obligation under Condition F to procure such a report and (b) to facilitate the carrying out 
by the WSRA of its regulatory functions, and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the WRSA, for our audit work, for this report or for the opinions 
we have formed. 
 

Respective responsibilities of the WSRA, the directors and auditors 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities set out on page 29, the directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the Regulatory Accounts and for their fair presentation in accordance with the basis of preparation and 
accounting policies. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the Regulatory Accounts in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland), except as stated in the ‘Scope of the audit of the Regulatory Accounts’ 
below, and having regard to the guidance contained in Audit 05/03 ‘Reporting to Regulators of Regulated Entities’ issued by 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing 
Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 
 

Scope of the audit of the regulatory accounts 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the Regulatory Accounts sufficient to give 
reasonable assurance that the Regulatory Accounts are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. 
This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company’s circumstances and have 
been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the 
directors; and the overall presentation of the Regulatory Accounts.  In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial 
information in the Regulatory Accounts to identify material inconsistencies with the audited Regulatory Accounts. If we 
become aware of any apparent misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report. 
 
We have not assessed whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the circumstances of the Company where these are 
laid down by Condition F. Where Condition F does not give specific guidance on the accounting policies to be followed, our 
audit includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies adopted in respect of the transactions and balances required 
to be included in the Regulatory Accounts are consistent with those used in the preparation of the statutory financial 
statements of the company. Furthermore, as the nature, form and content of Regulatory Accounts are determined by the 
WSRA, we did not evaluate the overall adequacy of the presentation of the information, which would have been required if 
we were to express an audit opinion under International Standards on Auditing (UK & Ireland).  
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Independent auditors’ report to the Water Services Regulation Authority (the 
Authority, referred to as the “WSRA” and the Directors of Dŵr Cymru 
Cyfyngedig  

 

Opinion on regulatory accounts 
In our opinion, the regulatory accounts: 
 

 fairly present in accordance with Condition F, the Regulatory Accounting Guidelines issued by the WSRA and the 
accounting policies ,the state of the Company’s affairs at 31 March 2012 on an historical cost and current cost basis, and 
its  historical cost and current cost profit and its current cost cash flow for the year then ended; and  
 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with Condition F, the Regulatory Accounting Guidelines and the accounting 
policies. 

 

Basis of preparation 
Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to the fact that the Regulatory Accounts have been prepared in 
accordance with Condition F, the Regulatory Accounting Guidelines, the accounting policies set out in the statement of 
accounting policies and, in the case of the regulatory historical cost accounting statements, under the historical cost 
convention. 
 
The Regulatory Accounts are separate from the statutory financial statements of the Company and have not been prepared 
under the basis of International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (“IFRSs”). Financial 
information other than that prepared on the basis of IFRSs does not necessarily represent a true and fair view of the financial 
performance or financial position of a company as shown in statutory financial statements prepared in accordance with the 
Companies Act 2006. Furthermore, the regulatory historical cost accounting statements on pages 32 to 64 have been drawn 
up in accordance with Regulatory Accounting Guideline 3.06 in that infrastructure renewals accounting as applied in previous 
years should continue to be applied and accordingly, that the relevant sections of Financial Reporting Standards 12 and 15 be 
disapplied.  The effect of this departure from Generally Accepted Accounting Practice and a reconciliation of the balance 
sheet drawn up on this basis to the balance sheet drawn up under the Companies Act 2006 is given on page 64. 

 
 
Opinion on other matters prescribed by Condition F  
Under the terms of our contract we have assumed responsibility to provide those additional opinions required by Condition F 
in relation to the accounting records. In our opinion: 
 

 proper accounting records have been kept by the appointee as required by paragraph 3 of Condition F; and 
 

 the Regulatory Accounts  are in agreement with the accounting records and returns retained for the purpose of preparing 
the Regulatory Accounts. 

 
 
Other matters  

The nature, form and content of Regulatory Accounts are determined by the WSRA. It is not appropriate for us to assess 

whether the nature of the information being reported upon is suitable or appropriate for the WRSA’s purposes. Accordingly 

we make no such assessment. 
 

Our opinion on the Regulatory Accounts is separate from our opinion on the statutory financial statements of the Company 

for the year ended 31 March 2012 on which we reported on 13 June 2012, which are prepared for a different purpose. Our 

audit report in relation to the statutory financial statements of the Company (our “Statutory audit”) was made solely to the 

Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our Statutory audit work 

was undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in a 

statutory audit report and for no other purpose. In these circumstances, to the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not 

accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom our Statutory audit report is shown or 

into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing. 
 

 
 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 

Cardiff 
11 July 2012 
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Historical cost financial statements and accompanying notes  
for the year ended 31 March 2012 
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Historical cost profit and loss account for the year ended 31 March 2012 

 
2012 2011

Note £m £m £m £m

Turnover 3a 695.0 676.7

Operating costs 4 (462.3) (448.8)

Operating profit 232.7 227.9

Profit on disposal of fixed assets 6 0.1 0.1

Profit on ordinary activities before interest 232.8 228.0

Interest payable 7a (196.7) (178.2)

Interest receivable 7a 4.9 4.1

Other finance income/(expense) 7b 0.1 (0.7)

(191.7) (174.8)

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 3b 41.1 53.2

Current taxation 8 3.8 2.5

Deferred taxation 8 2.1 34.3

5.9 36.8

Retained profit for the year 47.0 90.0

 
 
All operations are continuing. 
 

 

Historical cost statement of total recognised gains and losses for the year 
ended 31 March 2012 

 
2012 2011

Note £m £m

Profit for the year 47.0 90.0

Actuarial loss recognised in the pension scheme 27 (25.8) (4.8)

Movement on deferred tax asset relating to pension 

   scheme 8 4.2 1.2

Net loss recognised directly in equity (21.6) (3.6)

Total recognised gains for the year 25.4 86.4
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Historical cost profit and loss account for the year ended 31 March 2012 

 
 
 
Analysis of historical cost financial information between appointed and non-appointed business for the year ended 31 
March 2012. 
 

Appointed 

business

Non-

appointed 

business Total

2012 2012 2012

£m £m £m

Turnover 687.3 7.7 695.0

Operating costs (266.4) (6.1) (272.5)

Infrastructure renewals charge (65.7) - (65.7)

Historical cost depreciation (124.1) - (124.1)

Operating profit 231.1 1.6 232.7

Other income 0.1 - 0.1

Profit on ordinary activities before interest 231.2 1.6 232.8

Interest payable (196.7) - (196.7)

Interest receivable 4.6 0.3 4.9

Other finance income 0.1 - 0.1

(192.0) 0.3 (191.7)

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 39.2 1.9 41.1

Current taxation 3.8 - 3.8

Deferred taxation 2.1 - 2.1

5.9 - 5.9

Retained profit for the year 45.1 1.9 47.0

 
 

 
Historical cost statement of total recognised gains and losses for the year 
ended 31 March 2012  

 
 
 
Analysis of historical cost financial information between appointed and non-appointed business for the year ended 31 
March 2012. 

Appointed 

business

Non-

appointed 

business Total

2012 2012 2012

£m £m £m

Profit for the year 45.1 1.9 47.0

Actuarial loss recognised in the pension scheme (25.8) - (25.8)

Movement on deferred tax asset relating to pension scheme 4.2 - 4.2

Net loss recognised directly in equity (21.6) - (21.6)

Total recognised gains for the year 23.5 1.9 25.4
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Historical cost profit and loss account for the year ended 31 March 2012 cont’d 

 
 
 
Analysis of historical cost financial information between appointed and non-appointed business for the year ended 31 
March 2011. 
 

Appointed 

business

Non-

appointed 

business Total

2011 2011 2011

£m £m £m

Turnover 669.0 7.7 676.7

Operating costs (259.5) (5.1) (264.6)

Infrastructure renewals charge (63.5) - (63.5)

Historical cost depreciation (120.7) - (120.7)

Operating profit 225.3 2.6 227.9

Other income 0.1 - 0.1

Profit on ordinary activities before interest 225.4 2.6 228.0

Interest payable (178.2) - (178.2)

Interest receivable 3.8 0.3 4.1

Other finance expense (0.7) - (0.7)

(175.1) 0.3 (174.8)

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 50.3 2.9 53.2

Current taxation 2.5 - 2.5

Deferred taxation 34.3 - 34.3

36.8 - 36.8

Retained profit for the year 87.1 2.9 90.0

 
 

 

Historical cost statement of total recognised gains and losses for the year 
ended 31 March 2012 cont’d 

 
 
 
Analysis of historical cost financial information between appointed and non-appointed business for the year ended 31 
March 2011. 
 

Appointed 

business

Non-

appointed 

business Total

2011 2011 2011

£m £m £m

Profit for the year 87.1 2.9 90.0

Actuarial loss recognised in the pension scheme (4.8) - (4.8)

Movement on deferred tax asset relating to pension scheme 1.2 - 1.2

Net loss recognised directly in equity (3.6) - (3.6)

Total recognised gains for the year 83.5 2.9 86.4
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Historical cost balance sheet at 31 March 2012 

 
 
 

2012 2011

Note £m £m

Fixed assets

Tangible assets 10 3,524.3 3,478.0

Investment - loan to group company 11a 320.5 370.5

Investment - other 11b 0.1 0.1

3,844.9 3,848.6

Current assets

Debtors: amounts falling due within one year 12 139.7 113.6

Cash at bank and in hand (15.9) (21.5)

Short term investments 13 315.1 118.5

438.9 210.6

Current liabilities

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 14 (222.8) (158.1)

Net current assets 216.1 52.5

Total assets less current liabilities 4,061.0 3,901.1

Creditors: amounts falling due after one year 14 (2,912.8) (2,734.0)

Retirement benefit obligations 27 (24.3) (12.0)

Provisions for liabilities and charges 18 (216.3) (221.6)

Deferred income 19 (23.6) (25.0)

(3,177.0) (2,992.6)

Net assets 884.0 908.5

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital 20 309.9 309.9

Capital redemption reserve 21 166.2 166.2

Profit and loss account 21 407.9 432.4

Total shareholders' funds 884.0 908.5

 
 
 
The regulatory accounts on pages 32 to 81 were approved by the Board of Directors on 9 July 2012 and were signed on its 
behalf by: 
 

 
 
N C Annett 
Managing Director 
 

 
 
C A Jones 
Finance Director 
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Historical cost balance sheet as at 31 March 2012 cont’d 

 
 
Analysis of historical cost financial information between appointed and non-appointed business for the year ended 31 
March 2012. 
 

Appointed 

business

Non-

appointed 

business Total

2012 2012 2012

£m £m £m

Fixed assets

Tangible assets 3,524.3 - 3,524.3

Investment - loan to group company 320.5 - 320.5

Investment - other 0.1 - 0.1

3,844.9 - 3,844.9

Current assets

Infrastructure renewals prepayment 18.2 - 18.2

Debtors 121.5 - 121.5

Cash at bank and in hand (15.9) - (15.9)

Short term investments 276.5 38.6 315.1

400.3 38.6 438.9

Current liabilities

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year:

- borrowings (77.2) - (77.2)

- other creditors (145.6) - (145.6)

(222.8) - (222.8)

Net current assets 177.5 38.6 216.1

Total assets less current liabilities 4,022.4 38.6 4,061.0

Creditors: amounts falling due after one year:

- borrowings (2,872.1) - (2,872.1)

- other creditors (40.7) - (40.7)

(2,912.8) - (2,912.8)

Retirement benefit obligations (24.3) - (24.3)

Provisions for liabilities and charges:

- provision for deferred taxation (194.1) - (194.1)

- other provisions for liabilities and charges (22.2) - (22.2)

(216.3) - (216.3)

Deferred income (23.6) - (23.6)

Net assets 845.4 38.6 884.0

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital 309.9 - 309.9

Capital redemption reserve 166.2 - 166.2

Profit and loss account 369.3 38.6 407.9

Total shareholders' funds 845.4 38.6 884.0
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Historical cost balance sheet as at 31 March 2012 cont’d 

 
 
Analysis of historical cost financial information between appointed and non-appointed business for the year ended 31 
March 2011. 
 

Appointed 

business

Non-

appointed 

business Total

2011 2011 2011

£m £m £m

Fixed assets

Tangible assets 3,478.0 - 3,478.0

Investment - loan to group company 370.5 - 370.5

Investment - other 0.1 - 0.1

3,848.6 - 3,848.6

Current assets

Infrastructure renewals prepayment 2.9 - 2.9

Debtors 110.7 - 110.7

Cash at bank and in hand (21.5) - (21.5)

Short term investments 81.8 36.7 118.5

173.9 36.7 210.6

Current liabilities

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year:

- borrowings (21.8) - (21.8)

- other creditors (136.3) - (136.3)

(158.1) - (158.1)

Net current assets 15.8 36.7 52.5

Total assets less current liabilities 3,864.4 36.7 3,901.1

Creditors: amounts falling due after one year:

- borrowings (2,694.0) - (2,694.0)

- other creditors (40.0) - (40.0)

(2,734.0) - (2,734.0)

Retirement benefit obligations (12.0) - (12.0)

Provisions for liabilities and charges:

- provision for deferred taxation (196.2) - (196.2)

- other provisions for liabilities and charges (25.4) - (25.4)

(221.6) - (221.6)

Deferred income (25.0) - (25.0)

Net assets 871.8 36.7 908.5

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital 309.9 - 309.9

Capital redemption reserve 166.2 - 166.2

Profit and loss account 395.7 36.7 432.4

Total shareholders' funds 871.8 36.7 908.5
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Historical cost cash flow statement for the year ended 31 March 2012 

 
 

2012 2011

Note £m £m

Net cash inflow from operating activities 23a 418.4 428.2

Returns on investment and servicing of finance

Interest received 4.6 4.1

Interest paid (48.6) (112.2)

Interest element of finance lease rental payments (49.2) (31.7)

Tax receipt 2.5 1.7

Net cash flow from returns on investments and

   servicing of finance 23b (90.7) (138.1)

Capital expenditure and financial investment

Purchase of tangible fixed assets (185.6) (227.5)

Proceeds from disposal of tangible fixed assets 0.1 0.1

Infrastructure renewals expenditure (81.1) (40.0)

Grants and contributions received 9.5 14.1

Net cash flow from investing activities (257.1) (253.3)

Net cash inflow before use of liquid resources and

   financing 70.6 36.8

Equity dividends paid (50.0) -

Management of liquid resources

Net movement in deposits (196.6) 125.5

Net cash flow before financing (176.0) 162.3

Financing

Net loan received from group undertakings 189.6 (58.9)

Other loan repayments (0.3) (0.3)

Capital element of finance lease repayments (7.7) (128.2)

Net cash flow from financing 181.6 (187.4)

Increase/(decrease) in cash in the year 25 5.6 (25.1)
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Historical cost cash flow statement for the year ended 31 March 2012 cont’d 

 
 
 
Analysis of historical cost financial information between appointed and non-appointed business for the year ended 31 
March 2012. 
 

Appointed 

business

Non-

appointed 

business Total

2011 2011 2011

£m £m £m

Net cash inflow from operating activities 416.8 1.6 418.4

Returns on investment and servicing of finance

Interest received 4.3 0.3 4.6

Interest paid (48.6) - (48.6)

Interest element of finance lease rental payments (49.2) - (49.2)

Tax receipt 2.5 - 2.5

Net cash flow from returns on investments and

   servicing of finance (91.0) 0.3 (90.7)

Capital expenditure and financial investment

Purchase of tangible fixed assets (185.6) - (185.6)

Proceeds from disposal of tangible fixed assets 0.1 - 0.1

Infrastructure renewals expenditure (81.1) - (81.1)

Grants and contributions received 9.5 - 9.5

Net cash flow from investing activities (257.1) - (257.1)

Net cash inflow before use of liquid resources and

   financing 68.7 1.9 70.6

Equity dividends paid (50.0) - (50.0)

Management of liquid resources

Net movement in deposits (194.7) (1.9) (196.6)

Net cash flow before financing (176.0) - (176.0)

Financing

Repayment of bank loans 189.6 - 189.6

Other loan repayments (0.3) - (0.3)

Capital element of finance lease repayments (7.7) - (7.7)

Net cash flow from financing 181.6 - 181.6

Increase in cash in the year 5.6 - 5.6  
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Historical cost cash flow statement for the year ended 31 March 2012 cont’d 

 
 
Analysis of historical cost financial information between appointed and non-appointed business for the year ended 31 
March 2011. 
 

Appointed 

business

Non-

appointed 

business Total

2011 2011 2011

£m £m £m

Net cash inflow from operating activities 425.6 2.6 428.2

Returns on investment and servicing of finance

Interest received 3.8 0.3 4.1

Interest paid (112.2) - (112.2)

Interest element of finance lease rental payments (31.7) - (31.7)

Tax receipt 1.7 - 1.7

Net cash flow from returns on investments and

   servicing of finance (138.4) 0.3 (138.1)

Capital expenditure and financial investment

Purchase of tangible fixed assets (227.5) - (227.5)

Costs of disposal of tangible fixed assets 0.1 - 0.1

Infrastructure renewals expenditure (40.0) - (40.0)

Grants and contributions received 14.1 - 14.1

Net cash flow from investing activities (253.3) - (253.3)

Net cash outflow before use of liquid resources and

   financing 33.9 2.9 36.8

Management of liquid resources

Net movement in deposits 128.4 (2.9) 125.5

Net cash flow before financing 162.3 - 162.3

Financing

Net loan received from group undertaking (58.9) - (58.9)

Other loan repayments (0.3) - (0.3)

Capital element of finance lease repayments (128.2) - (128.2)

Net cash flow from financing (187.4) - (187.4)

Decrease in cash in the year (25.1) - (25.1)
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Notes to the historical cost financial statements for the year ended  
31 March 2012 

 
 
 

1 Accounting policies  
 

Basis of preparation 
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention and with applicable accounting 
standards in the UK except for the de-application of certain sections of FRS 12 and FRS 15 in relation to infrastructure 
renewals accounting as described below, and with the Companies Act 2006 except for the treatment of certain capital 
contributions.  An explanation of this departure from the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 is given in the “Grants and 
customer contributions” section below and in note 10(c). 
 
 

Turnover 
Turnover represents the income receivable in the ordinary course of business for services provided and excludes value added 
tax. Where services have been provided but for which no invoice has been raised at the year-end, an estimate of the value is 
included in turnover. 
 
i) Billing of unoccupied properties 

An unoccupied property is a connected property or premises that is unoccupied and unfurnished and does not have 
use of any water or sewerage service. This definition is applied in the following ways: 

 
a) Unmeasured supplies 
  If an unoccupied property is furnished normal charges will apply (subject to allowances, e.g. if the sole occupier 

is in a nursing home, hospital, prison or is overseas long-term). 
 Unfurnished and unoccupied properties do not incur charges unless they are in use, e.g. under renovation or 

redecoration, in which case the customer will be offered the option of being compulsorily metered, continuing 
on unmeasured charges or being disconnected. 

 Unmeasured properties will be billed a ‘surface water only’ charge if the water supply is temporarily 
disconnected. 

 
b) Metered supplies 
  Metered standing charges are applied to each metered property unless there is zero water consumption, the 

property owner cannot be identified and it is unfurnished. 
 
ii) Billing ‘the occupier’ 

Very few premises are billed as ‘the occupier’; no bills are sent speculatively in this manner, only when there is 
evidence suggesting an actual occupier (e.g. a visit, finance check or Land Registry check). 

 
iii) Revenue from ‘charges on income’ 
 No revenue is generated in this manner. 
 
iv) New properties 

All new properties are metered. The developer, being the consumer, is billed for water and sewerage charges between 
the date of connection and first occupancy. Income from the developer for metered charges is recognised as turnover. 

 
v) There are no differences between the recognition of turnover in the regulatory and accounts and the recognition of 

revenue in the statutory financial statements. Bills raised for customers having a record of non-payment are 
recognised as turnover. Only in the following circumstances are bills not recognised as turnover: 

 
a) Voids adjustment for local authority agreements. Welsh Water bills local authorities for all of their tenanted 

premises, whether occupied or not and the collection commission we pay local authorities includes a 
proportion to cover the voids. An adjustment is therefore made between commission costs (included in 
operating costs) and turnover in respect of the amount relating to voids; and 
 

b) Where bills are subject to formal legal pricing disputes, we do not recognise as turnover the disputed portion 
of bills raised.  
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31 March 2012 cont’d 

 
 
 

Tangible fixed assets and depreciation 
Tangible fixed assets comprise: 
 
(i) infrastructure assets (being mains and sewers, impounding and pumped raw water storage reservoirs, dams, sludge 

pipelines and sea outfalls); and 
(ii) other assets (including properties, above ground operational structures and equipment and fixtures and fittings). 
 
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost of construction or purchase price and directly attributable costs. The carrying value of 
tangible fixed assets is reviewed for impairment if circumstances dictate that it may not be recoverable. 
 
 

Infrastructure assets 
Infrastructure assets comprise a network of systems. Expenditure on infrastructure assets relating to increases in capacity, 
enhancements or replacements of the network is treated as additions, which are included at cost after deducting grants and 
contributions. 
 
The infrastructure renewals charge (IRC) is based on the estimated level of annual expenditure required to maintain the 
operating capability of the network over the medium to long-term. The Company’s policy, which remains consistent with prior 
years, is to calculate a 15 year forward-looking average using latest forecasts. 
 
The regulatory historical cost balance sheet has been prepared in accordance with RD15/99, with the relevant sections of FRS 
12 and FRS 15 being de-applied in relation to infrastructure renewals accounting. As a result, any cumulative difference 
between IRC and actual infrastructure renewals expenditure in the year is held as a prepayment or accrual in the balance 
sheet. 
 
 

Other assets 
Other assets are included at cost less accumulated depreciation. Freehold land is not depreciated. Other assets are 
depreciated over their estimated useful economic lives, which are principally as follows: 
 
Freehold buildings      up to 60 years 
Leasehold properties      over the lease period 
Operational structures      40-80 years 
Fixed plant      8-40 years 
Vehicles, mobile plant, equipment and computer hardware & software 3-16 years 
 
Assets in the course of construction are not depreciated until commissioned. 
 
 

Leased assets 
Where assets are financed by leasing arrangements, which transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of an 
asset to the lessee (i.e. finance leases), the assets are treated as if they had been purchased and the corresponding capital 
cost is shown as an obligation to the lessor. Leasing payments are treated as consisting of a capital element and finance costs, 
the capital element reducing the obligation to the lessor and the finance charges being written off to the profit and loss 
account over the period of the lease in reducing amounts in relation to the written down amount.  The assets are depreciated 
over the shorter of their estimated useful life and the lease period.  All other leases are regarded as operating leases. Rental 
costs arising under operating leases are charged to the profit and loss account in the year to which they relate. 
 
 

Grants and customer contributions 
Grants and customer contributions relating to infrastructure assets have been offset against fixed assets (see note 10(c)).  
Grants and customer contributions in respect of expenditure on other fixed assets are treated as deferred income and 
recognised in the profit and loss account over the expected useful economic lives of the related assets. 
 
 

Capital expenditure programme incentive payments 
The Company’s agreement with its construction partners involved in delivering the capital expenditure programme 
incorporates incentive bonuses payable after completion of the programmes.  The cost of fixed asset additions include an 
accrual for the proportion of incentive bonuses earned to date, relating to projects substantially completed at the year end, 
where the likelihood of making the incentive payment is considered probable. Amounts recoverable from contract partners, 
relating to targets not being achieved are recognised only on completed projects. 
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Notes to the historical cost financial statements for the year ended  
31 March 2012 cont’d 

 

 

 

Target cost contracts 
The Company maintains target cost contracts with its main operating partners. The Company’s policy in respect of pain/gain 
share receivables/payables arising from these contracts is to recognise gain payables over the period to which the charge 
relates, and pain receivables as income only when final agreement with the relevant service partner has been reached. 
 
 

Pension costs 
The Company operates two pension schemes, a defined contribution scheme and a defined benefit scheme.  
 
In respect of the defined contribution scheme, the amount charged to the profit and loss account represents contributions 
payable to the independent investment managers, who operate the schemes, in funds separate from those of the Company.  
 
The defined benefit scheme is funded by both employer and employee contributions.  The assets are held by the Trustees 
separately from the assets of the Company. The fund is valued every three years by a professionally qualified independent 
actuary. In the intervening years the actuary reviews the continuing appropriateness of the rates. The assets of the defined 
benefit scheme are measured using closing market rates. Pension scheme liabilities are measured using the attained age 
method and discounted at the current rate of return on high quality corporate bonds of equivalent terms. The increase in the 
present value of the scheme expected to arise from employees’ service during the period is charged to operating profit.  The 
expected return on scheme assets and the increase during the period in the present value of the scheme liabilities, arising 
from the passage of time, are included as an interest expense. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the statement of 
total recognised gains and losses.  
 
 

Debt and debt issue costs 
Debt is initially stated at the amount of the net proceeds after deduction of issue costs. Debt issue costs are recognised in the 
profit and loss account over the term of such instruments at a constant rate on the carrying amount. 
 
 

Investments 
Long term investments are held as fixed assets and stated at cost less amounts written off or provided to reflect permanent 
diminution in value. Short term investments are held as current assets and stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
 
 

Financial instruments 
Derivative instruments utilised by the Company are interest rate and inflation swaps and certain power price hedging 
contracts. Derivatives are used for hedging purposes to alter the risk profile of existing underlying exposures within the 
Company. 
 
Interest differentials, under swap arrangements used to manage interest rate exposure on borrowings and current asset 
investments, are recognised by adjusting interest payable or receivable as appropriate. 
 
 

Research and development 
Research and development expenditure is charged to the profit and loss account in the year in which it is incurred. 
 
 

Taxation 
The charge for current taxation is based on the profit for the period as adjusted for disallowable and non-taxable items. In 
accordance with FRS 19 “Deferred tax” full provision is made for all deferred tax liabilities arising from timing differences 
between the recognition of gains and losses in the financial statements and their recognition in tax computations.  Deferred 
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that they are considered recoverable. Recoverability is defined as when it can be 
regarded as more likely than not that there will be sufficient taxable profits from which future reversal of the timing 
differences can be deducted. Deferred tax is not discounted. 
 
 

Provision for insurance liabilities 
Provision is made for all known and estimated liabilities arising from uninsured claims against the Company where there is a 
present obligation and it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required. 
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2 Consolidated financial statements 
The Company has taken advantage of section 400 of the Companies Act 2006 not to produce consolidated financial 
statements as it is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig. 
 
 

3 Segmental analysis by class of business 

 

(a)     Turnover 

2012 2011

£m £m

Regulated water and sewerage activities 687.3 669.0

Non-regulated activities 7.7 7.7

695.0 676.7

 
 

(b)     Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 

2012 2011

£m £m

Regulated water and sewerage activities

Operating profit 231.1 225.4

Net interest payable (192.1) (174.4)

Other finance income/(expense) - pension scheme (note 27) 0.1 (0.7)

39.1 50.3

Non-regulated activities

Operating profit 1.6 2.6

Interest receivable 0.3 0.3

1.9 2.9

 
 

(c) Net assets 

2012 2011

£m £m

Regulated water and sewerage activities 845.4 871.8

Non-regulated activities 38.6 36.7

884.0 908.5

 
 
All turnover and profit before taxation, by origin and destination, was attributable to the UK. 
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4 Net operating costs 
Total Total

2012 2011

£m £m

Operations

Power 34.4 33.6

Chemicals 8.8 8.5

Materials and equipment 3.0 2.9

Telephones and other IT 5.0 4.0

Vehicles and plant 8.4 7.3

Office expenses 3.9 2.3

Property costs 3.9 3.8

Insurances 4.4 5.3

Sewerage contractors 2.0 3.4

Water costs 5.7 4.8

Customer service agreements 20.1 19.8

Laboratories and amalytical services 5.6 6.9

Collection commissions 4.1 3.9

IT Contracts 13.3 17.8

Other bought in services 21.1 28.5

143.7 152.8

Employee costs

Total staff costs 79.5 72.0

Staff costs capitalised (21.4) (22.3)

Subcontracted staff costs - 1.4

58.1 51.1

Research and development expenditure 0.5 0.5

Trade receivables impairment 27.0 22.3

Rates 27.9 22.7

Environment Agency charges 15.1 15.0

Fees payable to auditors 0.2 0.2

Total operational expenditure 272.5 264.6

Infrastructure renewals expenditure 65.7 63.5

Depreciation and amortisation 124.1 120.7

- Under finance leases

- Amortisation of intangible assets

124.1 120.7

Total operating costs 462.3 448.8
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4 Net operating costs cont’d 
 

Auditors’ remuneration 
Auditors during the period were PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.  They were used primarily for audit services, including 
regulatory audit services carried out to meet Ofwat reporting requirements. 

2012 2011

£'000 £'000

Non-discretionary audit fees

Statutory audit of parent company and consolidated financial statements 11 11

Statutory audit of subsidiary companies 77 77

Total statutory audit fees 88 88

Review of interim financial statements 22 23

Regulatory audit services pursuant to legislation 39 39

Bond prospectus updates and bond issue 25 -

Total audit -related fees 174 150

Other services

Tax advisory services 14 -

Other 8 8

Total other services 22 8

Total cost of services provided by the group's auditors 196 158

 
 
Regulatory audit services include work on the regulatory accounts, June Return and Principal Statement.  In addition to the 
above services, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP acted as auditor to the DCWW Pension Scheme.  The appointment of auditors to 
the pension scheme and the fees paid in respect of the audit are agreed by the trustees of the scheme, who act independently 
from the management of the Group.  The fees paid in respect of audit services to the pension scheme during the year were 
£13,000 (2011: £12,000). 
 
The Board has adopted a formal policy with respect to services received from external auditors.  The external auditor will not 
be used for internal audit services and all non-audit work above a threshold of £25,000 will be subject to prior competitive 
tendering and approval by the Audit Committee.   
 
 

5 Directors and employees 
 

(a) Directors’ emoluments  
 
The combined emoluments of the Directors of Dŵr Cymru Cyfyngedig for their services as Directors of the Company are set 
out below: 

2012 2011

£'000 £'000

Salary (including benefits in kind) 1,248 1,207

Fees 540 505

1,788 1,712

Long term incentive plan 140 68

1,928 1,780

 
 
Retirement benefits are accruing to three directors (2011 – three) under defined benefit schemes. None of the directors is a 
member of the defined contribution scheme (2011: none). 
 
Under the new Annual Variable Pay Scheme (AVPS), payment has been made in the current year equivalent to 26.0% of base 
salary for performance against the corporate Performance Scorecard, 33.6% for financial performance and 18% against 
Strategic and Personal Objectives, making a total payment in the range of 77.6%. This compared to a maximum of 100%. 
Under the Long Term Variable Pay Scheme (LTVPS) provision has been made for a 20% staged payment of the Customer 
Equity element of the scheme, reflecting a strong financial performance in the first two years of the regulatory period 2010-
2015, but no provision was made for a Customer Service award. (Further details are provided in the 2012 Remuneration 
Report which forms part of Glas Cymru’s 2012 Report and Accounts.) The 2011-12 accounts include an accrual for an interim  
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5 Directors and employees cont’d 
 
payment of £140,180 (equivalent to 20% of base salary) reflecting the Remuneration Committee’s current estimate of 
performance under the LTVPS in respect of the five year period ending 31 March 2015. 
 
The performance bonus of £525,170 in respect of 2010-11 as accrued at 31 March 2011 was paid in May 2011 following the 
publication of Ofwat’s OPA performance report for 2010-11. 

2012 2011

£'000 £'000

Highest paid director: N C Annett (2011: N C Annett)

Aggregate emoluments 491 473

Accrued pension under defined benefit scheme 127 117

Long term incentive plan 55 27

 
 

(b) Staff costs 
 

2012 2011

£m £m

Wages and salaries 67.1 57.5

Social security costs 5.4 4.5

Other pension costs 7.0 10.0

79.5 72.0

 
 
Of the above, £21.4m (2011: £22.3m) has been charged to capital.  
 
 
(c) Average monthly number of employees during the year (including Executive Directors) 

2012 2011

Number Number

Regulated water and sewerage activities 1,931 1727

 

 
 

6 Profit on disposal of fixed assets 
2012 2011

£m £m

Profit on disposal of fixed assets 0.1 0.1

 
 
 

7 a) Net interest payable 

2012 2011

£m £m

Interest payable on loans (147.3) (148.4)

Interest payable on finance leases (45.2) (28.1)

Other interest payable and finance costs (4.2) (1.7)

Interest payable (196.7) (178.2)

Interest receivable 4.9 4.1

Net interest payable (191.8) (174.1)
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Included within interest payable are amounts payable to group undertakings of £148.0m (2011: £147.0m). 
 
          b) Other finance income/(expense) 
 

2012 2011

£m £m

Other finance income/(expense) - pension scheme (note 27) 0.1 (0.7)

 
 

8 Taxation 
 

Analysis of credit in period 
 

2012 2011

£m £m

Current tax

-Current year (1.4) -

-Adjustment in respect of prior years (2.4) (2.5)

(3.8) (2.5)

Deferred tax

- Origin and reversal of timing differences - current year (15.0) (20.9)

- Origin and reversal of timing differences - prior years 30.3 (13.4)

- Effect of change in rate of tax (17.4) -

(2.1) (34.3)

Movement on deferred tax asset relating to pension scheme (4.2) (1.2)

(6.3) (35.5)

Total taxation credit (10.1) (38.0)

 
 

Factors affecting current tax credit for period 
 

2012 2011

£m £m

Profit on ordinary activities before tax 41.1 53.2

Profit before tax multiplied by the corporation tax rate in the UK of 26% (2010: 28%) 10.7 14.9

Effects of:

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 2.7 3.4

Other timing differences (2.3) (28.7)

Tax losses utilised 19.2 25.5

Capital allowances in excess of depreciation (31.7) (15.1)

(1.4) -

Adjustments in respect of prior years (2.4) (2.5)

Total current tax charge (3.8) (2.5)

 
 
 

9 Dividends 
2012 2011

£m £m

Dividends on ordinary shares

£1 ordinary shares £0.16 per share (2011:nil) 50.0 -
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10 Tangible fixed assets  
 
(a) Analysis by type 

Current year

Freehold land & 

buildings

Infrastructure 

assets

Operational 

structures

Vehicles, plant, 

equipment, 

computer 

hardware and 

software Total

£m £m £m £m £m

Cost

At 1 April 2011 34.8 2,497.2 2,726.7 432.9 5,691.6

Additions net of grants and 

contributions 0.2 93.9 127.0 32.0 253.1

Disposals - - - - -
At 31 March 2012 35.0 2,591.1 2,853.7 464.9 5,944.7

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 April 2011 17.7 853.4 1,090.5 252.0 2,213.6

Charge for the year 0.6 81.1 106.2 18.9 206.8

Released on disposal - - - - -
At 31 March 2012 18.3 934.5 1,196.7 270.9 2,420.4

Net book value
At 31 March 2012 16.7 1,656.6 1,657.0 194.0 3,524.3

At 31 March 2011 17.1 1,643.8 1,636.2 180.9 3,478.0

Analysis of net book value 

 at 31 March 2012

Owned 16.7 1,044.8 1,424.8 194.0 2,680.3

Held under finance leases - 611.8 232.2 - 844.0

16.7 1,656.6 1,657.0 194.0 3,524.3

 
 
Tangible fixed assets at 31 March 2012 include £119.7m (2011: £122.7m) of assets in the course of construction, which are 
not depreciated until commissioned. 
 
In accordance with RD 15/99, the infrastructure renewals charge reported in the profit and loss account was £65.7m (2011: 
£63.5m). The difference between the profit and loss account charge and the depreciation charge in respect of infrastructure 
assets shown above is included within prepayments and accrued income. 
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10 Tangible fixed assets cont’d 
 
(b) Analysis by service 
 

Current year

Water 

services

Sewerage 

services General Total

£m £m £m £m

Cost

At 1 April 2011 2,363.4 2,937.1 384.7 5,685.2

Additions 115.4 105.6 32.1 253.1

Disposals - - - -
At 31 March 2012 2,478.8 3,042.7 416.8 5,938.3

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 April 2011 958.0 1,008.3 240.9 2,207.2

Charge for the year 68.8 112.1 25.9 206.8

Released on disposal - - - -
At 31 March 2012 1,026.8 1,120.4 266.8 2,414.0

Net book value
At 31 March 2012 1,452.0 1,922.3 150.0 3,524.3

At 31 March 2011 1,405.4 1,928.8 143.8 3,478.0

Analysis of net book value 

   at 31 March 2012

Owned 1,238.1 1,292.2 150.0 2,680.3

Held under finance leases 213.9 630.1 - 844.0

1,452.0 1,922.3 150.0 3,524.3  
 
All tangible fixed assets held by the Company are of an appointed nature. 
 
(c) The accounting treatment for grants and customer contributions in respect of infrastructure assets is described in the 

principal accounting policies in note 1.  This treatment is not in accordance with Companies Act 2006 provisions 
requiring fixed assets to be shown at the purchase price or production cost and hence grants and contributions would 
be presented under the Act as deferred income.  The treatment explained in note 1 has been adopted in accordance 
with section 403(5) of the Companies Act 2006 in order to show a true and fair view as, in the opinion of the Directors, 
it is not appropriate to treat grants and contributions on infrastructure assets as deferred income.  The fixed assets to 
which they relate do not have determinable finite lives and therefore no basis exists for releasing any deferred income 
to the profit and loss account. As a consequence, the net book value of fixed assets and deferred income is £301m 
(2011: £284m) lower than it would have been the case had grants and contributions been treated as deferred income 
indefinitely. 
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11 (a) Investment – loan to group company 
 

2012 2011

£m £m

Cost and net book value

At 1 April and 31 March 320.5 370.5  
 
Interest of £38.5m for the year (2011: £44.6m) has been waived by the Company on the amount owed by group undertakings. 
 
 
           (b) Investment - other 
 

2012 2011

£m £m

Cost and net book value

At 1 April and 31 March 0.1 0.1  
 
Equity of less than 10% is held in the following unlisted company: 
 

 Principal activity Country of incorporation  Holding 

Water Research Centre (1989) plc Water research England and Wales “B” Ordinary Shares of £1 

 
In addition, the Company holds 5% Convertible Unsecured Loan Stock 2014 at a cost of £23,326 in Water Research Centre 
(1989) plc. 
 
100% interest in the following subsidiary: 
 

 Principal activity Country of incorporation Holding 

Welsh Water Utilities Finance plc Raising finance England and Wales Ordinary shares of £1 

 
 

12 Debtors 
 

2012 2011

£m £m

Amounts falling due within one year:

Trade debtors 42.5 36.6

Other debtors 12.6 10.9

Infrastructure renewals prepayment 18.2 2.9

Prepayments and accrued income 66.4 63.2

139.7 113.6  
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13 Short term investments 
 

2012 2011

£m £m

Investments in fixed term and call deposits due within one year 315.1 118.5

315.1 118.5  
 
Short term investments include highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which 
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Such investments are normally those with less than three months’ 
maturity from the date of acquisition and typically comprise deposits with banks or other financial institutions. 
 
Treasury activities are managed under policies, procedures and authorities approved by the Board of Directors. 
 
 

14 Creditors 
 

2012 2011

Note £m £m

Amounts falling due within one year

Loans

- Owed to group undertakings 15 65.0 14.3

- External 15 0.4 0.3

Obligations under finance leases 16 11.8 7.2

77.2 21.8

Interest accruals

- Owed to group undertakings - -

- External 0.2 5.0

0.2 5.0

Trade creditors 46.3 33.2

Capital creditors 27.2 31.3

Amounts owed to group undertakings 3.7 3.7

Other taxation and social security 2.8 2.4

Other creditors 65.4 60.7

222.8 158.1

2012 2011

£m £m

Amounts falling due after more than one year

Loans

- Owed to group undertakings 15 2,113.6 1,922.8

- External 15 36.2 36.6

Obligations under finance leases 16 722.3 734.6

Interest accruals 40.7 40.0

2,912.8 2,734.0  
 
As part of the Glas Group’s bond programme, a security package was granted by the Company for the benefit of holders of 
senior bonds, finance lessors and other senior financial creditors.  The obligations of the Company are guaranteed by Glas 
Cymru Cyfyngedig, Glas Cymru (Securities) Limited and Dŵr Cymru (Holdings) Limited. 
 
The main elements of the security package are: 
 

 a first fixed and floating security over all of the Company’s assets and undertaking, to the extent permitted by the Water 
Industry Act, other applicable law and its licence; and 
 

 a fixed and floating security given by the guarantors referred to above which are secured on each of the Company’s 
assets, including, in the case of Dŵr Cymru (Holdings) Limited, a first fixed charge over its shares in the Company. 
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15 Loans due to group undertakings and other loans 
 

2012 2011

Repayable as follows: £m £m

Within one year 65.4 14.6

Between one and two years 14.1 14.0

Between two and five years 84.0 65.8

After more than five years 2,051.7 1,879.5

2,215.2 1,973.9

Interest rates on these loans ranged as follows:

Index-linked debt

Other debt

2011

1.54% to 5.78%

0.95% to 8.17%

2012

1.61% to 6.06%

1.11% to 6.91%  
 
Costs directly attributable to the raising of debt are capitalised in accordance with FRS4 and are amortised to the profit and 
loss account over the term of the debt. 
 
 

16 Finance leases 
 

2012 2011

Repayable as follows: £m £m

Within one year 11.8 7.2

Between one and two years 16.0 11.5

Between two and five years 118.5 77.2

After more than five years 587.8 645.9

734.1 741.8  
 
 

17 Capital commitments 
 
The Company’s business plan at 31 March 2012 shows net capital expenditure of £310m (2011: £273m) during the next 
financial year. While only a portion of this amount has been formally contracted for, the Company is effectively committed to 
the total as part of its overall capital expenditure programme approved by its regulator. 
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Notes to the historical cost financial statements for the year ended  
31 March 2012 cont’d 

 
 
 

18 Provisions for liabilities and charges 
 

2012 2011

Note £m £m

Deferred taxation (a) 194.1 196.2

Restructuring provision (b) 10.5 14.7

Dilapidations provision (c) 2.0 2.0

Provision for uninsured losses (d) 7.9 6.8

Provision for loss on swap closure (e) 1.8 1.9

216.3 221.6

 
(a) Deferred taxation 
 

2012 2011

£m £m

Tax effect of timing differences

Excess of tax allowances over depreciation 352.5 329.0

Other timing differences (158.4) (132.8)

Provision for deferred tax 194.1 196.2

Provision at 1 April 196.2 230.5

Deferred tax credit for year in profit and loss account (2.1) (34.3)

Net deferred tax provision at 31 March 194.1 196.2  
 
The provision for deferred tax represents the tax effect of timing differences, which are expected to crystallise over periods of 
up to 85 years.   
 
(b) Restructuring provision 
 
This provides for the costs of terminating the outsourced contracts along with the estimated restructuring costs associated 
with a reduction in the headcount by some 300. 

£m

At 1 April 2011 14.7

Utilised in year (4.2)

At 31 March 2012 10.5

 
(c) Dilapidations provision 
 
This provision at 31 March 2012 is in respect of payments to be made relating to estimated dilapidation costs, which will be 
utilised over the next three years. 
 

£m

At 1 April 2011 2.0

Charge to profit and loss account 0.1

Utilised in year (0.1)

At 31 March 2012 2.0
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Notes to the historical cost financial statements for the year ended  
31 March 2012 cont’d 

 
 

18 Provisions for liabilities and charges cont’d 
 
 
(d) Provision for uninsured losses 
 
This provision is in respect of uninsured losses; its utilisation period is uncertain due to the nature of insurance claims, but is 
estimated to be five years. 

£m

At 1 April 2011 6.8

Charge to profit and loss account 3.6

Utilised in year (2.5)

At 31 March 2012 7.9

  
(e) Provision for loss on swap closure 
 
This provision is in respect of a liability that arose on the cancellation of certain interest rate swap contracts.  These contracts 
were redeemed early and the loss arising on redemption was settled by setting a higher rate on another swap contract.  This 
provision is being released to the profit and loss account over the life of the revised swap, which expires on 31 March 2031. 
 

£m

At 1 April 2011 1.9

Utilised in year (0.1)

At 31 March 2012 1.8  
 
 

19 Deferred income 
 
Deferred income relates to income received and receivable upon completion of assets under construction and will be credited 
to the profit and loss account over the lifetime of those assets. 
  

2012 2011

£m £m

At 1 April 25.0 26.3

Released to profit and loss account (1.4) (1.3)

At 31 March 23.6 25.0  
 
 

20 Called up share capital 
 

2012 2011

£m £m

Authorised

501,050,000 ordinary shares of £1 each 501.1 501.1

Allotted, called up and fully paid

309,876,374 ordinary shares of £1 each 309.9 309.9  
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Notes to the historical cost financial statements for the year ended  
31 March 2012 cont’d 

 
 

21 Reserves 
 
a) Profit and loss account 
 

£m

At 1 April 2011 432.4

Profit on ordinary activities after taxation 47.0

Actuarial loss on pension scheme (25.7)

Movement on deferred tax relating to pension liability 4.2

Dividends paid (50.0)

At 31 March 2012 407.9

 
b)  Capital redemption reserve 

£m

At 1 April 2011 and at 31 March 2012 166.2

 
 
 

22 Reconciliation of movements in equity shareholders’ funds 

2012 2011

£m £m

At 1 April 908.5 822.1

Profit on ordinary activities after taxation 47.0 90.0

Actuarial loss on pension scheme (25.7) (4.8)

Movement on deferred tax relating to pension liability 4.2 1.2

Dividends paid (50.0) -

At 31 March 884.0 908.5

 
 
 

23 a) Cash inflow from operating activities  
 

2012 2011

£m £m

Operating profit 232.7 227.9

Adjustments for:

- Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 124.1 120.7

- Infrastructure renewals charge 65.7 63.5

Net (increase)/decrease in debtors (10.5) 1.8

Net increase in creditors 18.3 23.8

Pension contributions in excess of operating costs (10.6) (2.6)

Decrease in other provisions (1.3) (6.9)

Cash inflow from operating activities 418.4 428.2
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Notes to the historical cost financial statements for the year ended  
31 March 2012 cont’d 

 

 

23 b) Returns on investments and servicing of finance 
 

2012 2011

£m £m

Interest payable per profit and loss account 196.7 178.2

Less non-cash items:

- Indexation (52.1) (48.1)

- Amortisation of bond issue costs (0.4) (0.4)

- Amortisation of bond issue premium 0.6 0.5

- Accounting profit on lease termination - 13.5

- Movement in prepayments and accruals (47.0) 0.2

Interest paid 97.8 143.9

 
 
 

24 Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt 
 

2012 2011

£m £m

Increase/(decrease) in cash in the year 5.6 (25.1)

Cash flow from management of liquid resources 196.6 (125.5)

Cash flow from movement in debt and lease financing (181.6) 187.4

Non-cash flow items (97.8) (36.2)

Movement in debt in the year (77.2) 0.6

Net debt at start of year (2,293.3) (2,293.9)

Net debt at end of year (2,370.5) (2,293.3)  
 

25 Analysis of net debt 

1 April Cash Non-cash 31 March

2011 flow items 2012

£m £m £m £m

Net cash

Cash at bank and in hand (21.5) 5.6 - (15.9)

Liquid resources

Current asset investments 118.5 196.6 - 315.1

Group receivables

Debt owed by parent company due after more than one year 370.5 (50.0) - 320.5

Debt

Finance leases (741.8) 7.7 - (734.1)

Debt falling due within one year (14.6) 14.6 (65.4) (65.4)

Bond issue costs 5.8 0.8 (0.4) 6.2

Indexation of intercompany loan (199.5) (9.2) (52.1) (260.8)

Accrued interest (45.0) (0.5) 4.6 (40.9)

Debt falling due after one year (1,765.7) (145.0) 15.5 (1,895.2)

(2,760.8) (131.6) (97.8) (2,990.2)

Net debt (2,293.3) 20.6 (97.8) (2,370.5)

 
 

26 Directors' and officers' loans and transactions 
 
No loan or credit transaction with any Director, officer or connected person existed during the year or was outstanding at the 
year-end. 
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31 March 2012 cont’d 

 
 

27  Pensions 
 
The Company operates a funded defined benefit pension scheme for current employees (based on final pensionable 
salary and pensionable service), the DCWW Pension Scheme. The assets of the scheme are held in a separate trustee 
administered fund. 
 
The DCWW Pension Scheme was closed to new members from 31 December 2005 and a new defined contribution scheme, 
the Dŵr Cymru Defined Contribution Scheme, was introduced from 1 January 2006. 
 
Defined benefit scheme 
 
A full actuarial valuation of the scheme was undertaken as at 31 March 2011 by Robert Davies of Quantum Advisory, an 
independent, professionally qualified actuary, using the attained age method.  This valuation was updated at 31 March 2012 
and the principal assumptions made by the actuaries were: 
 

2012 2011

Rate of increase in pensionable salaries 5.0% 5.5%

Rate of increase in pensions in payment 3.2% 3.3%

Discount rate 3.7% 4.3%

Inflation assumption 3.1% 3.1%

Post retirement mortality (life expectancy):

- Current pensioners age 65 - males 87.7 years 87.0 years

- Current pensioners age 65 - females 90.4 years 89.9 years

- Future pensioners age 65 (currently age 45) - males 90.7 years 88.1 years

- Future pensioners age 65 (currently age 45) - females 93.3 years 90.9 years

Expected return on assets 5.00% 5.74%  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 



60 
 

Notes to the historical cost financial statements for the year ended  
31 March 2012 cont’d 

 
 

27  Pensions cont’d 
 
The expected rates of return on the assets in the scheme were: 
 

Expected 

return

% of total 

assets

Expected 

return

% of total 

assets

Equities 6.5% 50.8% 7.5% 55.2%

Bonds 5.0% 13.0% 5.0% 12.6%

Other 3.0% 36.1% 3.0% 32.2%

2012 2011

 
 
The following amounts at 31 March were measured in accordance with the requirements of FRS 17: “Retirement benefits”. 

2012 2011

£m £m

Present value of scheme liabilities (272.8) (238.5)

Total market value of assets 240.9 223.0

Total plan liability (31.9) (15.5)

Related deferred tax asset 7.6 3.5

Net liability recognised in the balance sheet (24.3) (12.0)

 
 
 

2012 2011

£m £m

Current service cost (excluding member contributions) 8.9 8.6

Past service cost 1.5 4.9

Total included within operating profit 10.4 13.5

Interest cost 13.3 7.9

Expected return on plan assets (13.2) (8.7)

Total included within other finance income/(expense) 0.1 (0.8)

Total recognised in the profit and loss account 10.5 12.7

 
 

2012 2011

£m £m

Net actuarial loss recognised in year (25.8) (4.6)

Total recognised in the statement of total recognised gains and losses (25.8) (4.6)
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Notes to the historical cost financial statements for the year ended  
31 March 2012 cont’d 

 

27  Pensions cont’d 
 
 
Movement in deficit during the year: 

2012 2011

£m £m

At 1 April (15.5) (8.0)

Interest cost (13.4) (7.9)

Current service cost (8.9) (8.7)

Contributions 19.9 11.0

Expected return on scheme assets 13.2 8.6

Past service cost - vested benefits (1.4) (4.7)

Bulk transfer - (1.1)

Actuarial loss (25.8) (4.7)

At 31 March (31.9) (15.5)

 
 
 
History of experience gains and losses 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Difference between the actual and expected return on scheme assets:

- Amount (£m) (9.5) (8.2) 10.0 (9.3) (4.7)

- Percentage of scheme assets (4%) (4%) 21% (29%) (12%)

Experience loss on scheme liabilities:

- Amount (£m) (16.3) 3.6 11.5 (1.1) 8.0

- Percentage of present value of scheme liabilities (6%) 2% 21% (3%) 22%

Total amount recognised in statement of total recognised gains and losses

- Amount (£m) (25.8) (4.6) (1.5) (10.4) 3.3

- Percentage of present value of scheme liabilities (9%) (2%) 3% 26% 8%

 
 

28 Elan Valley Trust Fund 
 
In 1984 Welsh Water Authority entered into a conditional sale and purchase agreement with Severn Trent Water Authority for 
the sale of the aqueduct and associated works by which the bulk supply to Severn Trent reservoirs is conveyed. 
 
The sum of £31.7m, representing the consideration for the conditional sale, was invested in a trust fund.  The principal 
function of the fund was to provide an income to Welsh Water Authority, whilst preserving the capital value of the fund in 
real terms.  Welsh Water Authority's interest in this fund was vested in Dŵr Cymru Cyfyngedig under the provisions of the 
Water Act 1989.   
 
The assets of the fund are not included in these financial statements. As at 31 March 2012 the market value of the trust fund 
was £110m (2011: £98m). 
 
Interest receivable includes £2.7m (2011: £2.2m) in respect of the Elan Valley Trust Fund. 
 
  

29 Disclosure of transactions with associates 
 
There were no transactions with any associated companies except for: 
 

 the Directors of Dŵr Cymru Cyfyngedig are also directors of other companies within the Glas Cymru Group. However, the 
emoluments of the Directors are paid in full by Dŵr Cymru Cyfyngedig as their activities are predominantly related to the 
regulated water and sewerage business. During the year the Directors’ emoluments amounted to £1,927,000 (2011: 
£1,780,000); 
 

 investments include a loan to the Company’s immediate parent company, Dŵr Cymru (Holdings) Limited, of £320.5m 
(2011: £370.5m), included in debtors. The interest rate on this loan is 12%, and loan interest of £38.5m (2011: £44.6m) 
has been waived by the Company during the year. The interest waiver is a practical alternative to funding the interest 
otherwise receivable by the Company by means of an ordinary dividend; and 
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Notes to the historical cost financial statements for the year ended  
31 March 2012 cont’d 

 
 

29 Disclosure of transactions with associates cont’d 
 

 the proceeds of the Group’s bond programme have been on-lent to Dŵr Cymru Cyfyngedig under an intercompany loan 
agreement. Under the terms of this agreement, the interest rates payable by the Company are based on the interest rates 
payable to the bondholders after taking into account interest rate and currency swaps, plus a margin of 0.01%. 
 

 during the year Dŵr Cymru Cyfyngedig paid a dividend of £50m to Dŵr Cymru (Holdings) Limited, the dividend received 
during the year was immediately used to repay an identical amount of intercompany borrowings. 

 

30 Immediate and ultimate holding company 
 
The Company’s immediate parent company is Dŵr Cymru (Holdings) Limited, which is registered in England and Wales. 
 
The smallest and largest Group within which the results of this company are consolidated is headed by Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig, 
whose consolidated financial statements can be obtained from the Company Secretary at Pentwyn Road, Nelson, Treharris, 
Caerphilly CF46 6LY. 
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32 Reconciliation of regulatory accounts to statutory financial statements 
 
Welsh Water’s regulatory accounts for the year ended 31 March 2012 are prepared on the basis of Regulatory Accounting 
Guidelines and UK accounting standards. However, the Company’s statutory financial statements are prepared under 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The principal differences between the Company’s regulatory accounts and 
its statutory financial statements are set out below. 
 

2012 2011

Profit and loss account / income statement £'000 £'000

a) Operating costs

Per regulatory accounts 462.3 448.8

Difference in infrastructure accounting 15.4 (23.5)

Difference in depreciation (including amortisation of grants and contributions) 25.8 24.0

Other UK GAAP/IFRS differences 0.1 (0.1)

Per statutory financial statements 503.6 449.2

b) Net financing costs

Per regulatory accounts 191.7 174.8

Capitalisation of borrowing costs in accordance with IAS 23 (6.7) (5.4)

Fair value losses on derivative financial instruments per IAS 39 80.0 (5.2)

Other UK GAAP/IFRS differences - 0.1

Per statutory financial statements 265.0 164.3

c) Taxation credit

Per regulatory accounts 5.9 36.8

IFRS release of deferred tax on rolled over capital gains - 37.0

Other UK GAAP/IFRS differences 1.6 (9.8)

Per statutory financial statements 7.5 64.0

2012 2011

Balance sheet £'000 £'000

a) Fixed assets

Cost

At 31 March per regulatory accounts 5,944.7 5,691.6

Effect of 2004 IFRS asset revaluation (449.1) (449.1)

Intangible assets separately identified under IFRS (142.2) (129.6)

Infrastructure renewals expenditure capitalised in previous years (412.0) (372.0)

Infrastructure renewals expenditure capitalised in the year (81.1) (40.0)

Section 19 expenditure capitalised in previous years (121.0) (121.0)

IFRIC 18 adopted assets 59.5 32.7

Capitalisation of borrowing costs in accordance with IAS 23 18.2 11.5

Other IFRS diffferences (relating principally to finance leases) 3.1 2.9

At 31 March per statutory financial statements 4,820.1 4,627.0

Depreciation

At 31 March per regulatory accounts 2,420.4 2,213.6

Adjustment to opening balance (442.9) (442.9)

Intangible assets separately identified under IFRS (75.6) (64.2)

Depreciation charge for infrastructure assets (net of depreciation on disposal) - prior years (445.9) (405.9)

Depreciation charge for infrastructure assets (net of depreciation on disposal) - current year (81.1) (40.0)

Other IFRS differences (relating principally to finance leases) 1.6 (0.6)

Infrastructure depreciation per IFRS - prior years 188.1 165.0

Infrastructure depreciation per IFRS - current year 23.9 23.1

At 31 March per statutory financial statements 1,588.5 1,448.1  
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32 Reconciliation of regulatory accounts to statutory financial statements cont’d 
 

Balance sheet cont'd

b) Derivative financial instruments

At 31 March per regulatory accounts - -

Derivative non-current financial assets - 2.7

Derivative current financial liabilities (15.0) (34.5)

Derivative non-current financial assets (145.8) (49.0)

At 31 March per statutory financial statements (160.8) (80.8)

c) Current asset investments / held to maturity investments

At 31 March per regulatory accounts 315.1 118.5

Reclassified as cash and cash equivalents for IFRS (315.1) (118.5)

At 31 March per statutory financial statements - -

d) Cash at bank and in hand / cash and cash equivalents

At 31 March per regulatory accounts (15.9) (21.5)

Reclassified from current asset investments for IFRS 315.1 118.5

At 31 March per statutory financial statements 299.2 97.0

e) Debtors due < 1 year

At 31 March per regulatory accounts 139.7 113.6

Infrastructure renewals prepayment (18.2) (2.9)

Reclassification of customer security deposits under IFRS 1.4 1.4

Advance billings grossed up under IFRS 389.3 377.0

Other difference (0.3) -

At 31 March per statutory financial statements 511.9 489.1

f) Retirement benefit obligations

At 31 March per regulatory accounts 24.3 12.0

Add back related deferred tax asset 7.6 3.5

At 31 March per statutory financial statements 31.9 15.5

g) Deferred income

At 31 March per regulatory accounts 23.6 25.0

Write-back of deferred income under IFRS (23.6) (25.0)

At 31 March per statutory financial statements - -

h) Deferred taxation provision

At 31 March per regulatory accounts 194.1 196.2

Deferred tax on rolled over capital gains 3.8 4.5

Deferred tax on abolition of Industrial Buildings Allowances 42.4 37.0

Deferred tax on retirement benefit obligations (6.2) (3.5)

Other difference (prior year) - 9.8

At 31 March per statutory financial statements 234.1 244.0  
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Current cost profit and loss account for the appointed business for the year 
ended 31 March 2012 

 
2012 2011

Note £m £m

Turnover 2 687.3 668.9

Current cost operating costs (463.9) (455.5)

Other operating income 2 0.1 0.1

223.5 213.5

Working capital adjustment 0.7 1.0

Current cost operating profit 224.2 214.5

Interest payable (196.7) (178.2)

Interest receivable 4.6 3.9

Other finance income/(expense) 0.1 (0.7)

Financing adjustment 47.0 68.9

Current cost profit before taxation 79.2 108.4

Current taxation 3.8 2.5

Deferred taxation 2.1 34.3

Retained current cost profit for the year 85.1 145.2

 
 
 
 

Current cost statement of total recognised gains and losses for the appointed 
business for the year ended 31 March 2012 

 

2012 2011

£m £m

Profit for the year 85.1 145.2

Actuarial loss recognised in the pension scheme (25.8) (4.7)

Movement on deferred tax asset relating to pension 

   scheme 4.2 1.2

Total recognised gains for the year 63.5 141.7
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Current cost balance sheet for the appointed business at 31 March 2012 

 
 

2012 2011

Note £m £m

Fixed assets

Tangible assets 3c 33,471.4 25,498.3

Grants and contributions (7,317.1) (284.4)

26,154.3 25,213.9

Working capital 4 (24.3) (19.4)

Short term deposits 276.5 81.8

Overdrafts (15.9) (21.5)

Infrastructure renewals prepayment 18.2 2.9

Net operating assets 26,408.8 25,257.7

Non-operating assets and liabilities

Borrowings (77.2) (21.8)

Non-trade debtors 3.8 2.5

Non-trade creditors due within one year (3.9) (8.6)

Investment - loan to group company 320.5 370.5

Investment - other 0.1 0.1

Total non-operating assets and liabilities 243.3 342.7

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

Borrowings (2,872.1) (2,694.0)

Other creditors (40.7) (40.0)

Total creditors falling due after more than one year (2,912.8) (2,734.0)

Provisions for liabilities and charges

Deferred taxation (194.1) (196.2)

Post employment liabilities (24.3) (12.0)

Other provisions for liabilties and charges (22.2) (25.4)

Total provisions (240.6) (233.6)

Net assets 23,498.7 (22,632.8)

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital 309.9 309.9

Profit and loss account 5a (168.2) (181.8)

Current cost reserve 5b 23,190.8 22,338.5

Capital redemption reserve 166.2 166.2

Total shareholders' funds 23,498.7 22,632.8
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Current cost cash flow statement for the appointed business for the year 
ended 31 March 2012 

 
2012 2011

Note £m £m

Net cash inflow from operating activities 6 416.8 425.5

Returns on investment and servicing of finance

Interest received 4.3 3.8

Interest paid (48.6) (112.2)

Interest element of finance lease rental payments (49.2) (31.7)

Net cash flow from returns on investments and

servicing of finance (93.5) (140.1)

Taxation

Taxation received 2.5 1.7

Capital expenditure and financial investment

Purchase of tangible fixed assets (185.6) (227.5)

Sale of tangible fixed assets 0.1 0.1

Infrastructure renewals expenditure (81.1) (40.0)

Grants and contributions received 9.5 14.1

Net cash flow from investing activities (257.1) (253.3)

Net cash outflow before use of liquid resources and

   financing 68.7 33.8

Equity dividends paid (50.0) -

Management of liquid resources

Net movement in deposits (194.7) 128.6

Net cash flow before financing (176.0) 162.4

Financing

Net loan received from group undertaking 189.6 (58.9)

Other loan repayments (0.3) (0.3)

Capital element of finance lease repayments (7.7) (128.2)

Net cash flow from financing 181.6 (187.4)

Increase in cash in the year 7 5.6 (25.0)
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Current cost notes to the financial statements for the year ended  
31 March 2012 

 

 

 

1 Accounting policies  
 
The accounting policies used are the same as those adopted in the historical cost financial statements, except as set out 
below.  
 

Basis of preparation 
 
These financial statements have been prepared for the appointed business of Dŵr Cymru Cyfyngedig in accordance with 
guidance issued by the Director General of Water Services for modified real terms financial statements suitable for regulation 
in the water industry.  They measure profitability on the basis of real financial capital maintenance, in the context of assets 
which are valued at their current cost value to the business. 
 

Real financial capital maintenance adjustments 
 
These adjustments are made to historical cost profit in order to arrive at profit after the maintenance of financial capital in 
real terms. 
 
Depreciation adjustment - this is the difference between depreciation based on the current cost value of assets in these 
accounts and depreciation charged in arriving at historical cost profit. 
 
Working capital adjustment - this is calculated by applying the change in Retail Price Index (RPI) over the year to the opening 
total of working capital (see note 5). 
 
Financing adjustment - this is calculated by applying the change in the RPI over the year to the opening balance of net finance, 
which comprises all monetary assets and liabilities in the balance sheet apart from those included in working capital, and 
liabilities that are already indexed linked through the historical cost profit and loss account. 
 

Valuation bases for determining depreciation and disposal adjustment 
 
i) Current cost asset values 
 
All fixed assets are valued using the Modern Equivalent Asset Revaluation (‘MEAV’) completed as part of the PR09 Business 
Plan, and adjusted for enhancement additions which increase the value of the asset subsequent to 31 March 2008 (being the 
date of the MEAV). MEAV values are uprated using RPI. This ensures assets are valued as closely as possible to their current 
replacement costs. 
 
ii) Adoption of private sewers 

 
On 1 October 2011 Dŵr Cymru Cyfyngedig assumed responsibility for managing the private sewers network in its operational 
area; the transfer of an estimated 17,000km of private drains and sewers has increased the size of the network significantly. 
As required by RAG 1.10.9 these assets have been valued in the Company’s current cost balance sheet within tangible fixed 
assets, at a MEAV of £7.0bn, with a corresponding contribution being reflected in third party contributions.  The adoption has 
no effect on the Company's net assets. 
 
iii) Disposals 
 
Asset disposals are recorded as maintenance expenditure is committed to ensure the asset stock is valued at its replacement 
cost. The value of disposals each year represents the equivalent retirement from the MEAV. This amount is also shown in 
cumulative current cost depreciation. 
 
iv) Current cost depreciation 
 
Assets from the MEAV are depreciated by applying asset lives in line with the historic cost asset register combined with 
condition grades of the assets at the time of the MEAV. Asset additions are depreciated using asset lives straight out of the 
historic cost asset register and inflated using RPI to the report year. 
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2 Analysis of turnover and operating income for the appointed business 
 

Water Sewerage Appointed Water Sewerage Appointed

services services business services services business

2012 2012 2012 2011 2011 2011

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Turnover

Unmeasured 161.4 227.1 388.5 156.0 223.6 379.6

Measured 118.8 133.5 252.3 115.7 128.0 243.7

Trade effluent - 9.1 9.1 - 8.7 8.7

Large users and special agreements 8.9 7.9 16.8 8.3 7.8 16.1

Non-potable large users and special agreements 5.9 - 5.9 6.0 - 6.0

Third party (excluding non-potable water) 8.2 - 8.2 8.6 - 8.6

Other sources 6.5 - 6.5 6.2 - 6.2

Total turnover 309.7 377.6 687.3 300.8 368.1 668.9

Other operating income

Current cost disposal of fixed assets 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1  
 
The value for large user revenues has been based on potable supplies of 250ML per year and above, which are excluded from 
the tariff basket. Ofwat have defined “large users” as those using 100ML per year. However, this level has not been agreed 
within Wales and consequently 250ML per year has been used. 
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3(a) Analysis of water fixed assets 
 

Infrastructure 

Assets

Operational 

Assets

Other tangible 

assets Subtotal

Infrastructure 

Assets

Operational 

Assets

Other tangible 

assets
Subtotal

Gross replacement cost £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Gross replacement cost at 1 April 719.626 44.725 20.903 785.255 422.765 168.719 20.903 612.387

AMP adjustment - - - - - - - -

Reclassification adjustment - - - - - - - -

RPI adjustment 25.690 1.597 0.746 28.033 15.092 6.023 0.746 21.862

Disposals - (0.278) - (0.278) - (0.105) - (0.105)

Addtions - 0.585 - 0.585 (0.001) 0.113 - 0.113

Gross replacement at 31 March 745.316 46.629 21.650 813.594 437.857 174.750 21.650 634.256

Depreciation

Depreciation at 1 April - 18.274 13.815 32.089 - 120.611 13.863 134.475

AMP adjustment - - - - - - - -

AMP adjustment - gross MEA revaluation - - - - - - - -

AMP adjustment - amendement to remaining useful life - - - - - - - -

Reclassification adjustment - - - - - - - -

RPI adjustment - 0.652 0.493 1.145 - 4.306 0.495 4.801

Disposals - (0.278) - (0.278) - (0.105) - (0.105)

Charge for the year - - 0.729 0.729 - 8.349 1.065 9.414

Depreciation at 31 March - 18.648 15.038 33.686 - 133.162 15.423 148.585

Net book amount at 31 March 745.316 27.980 6.612 779.908 437.857 41.588 6.227 485.672

Net book amount at 1 April 719.626 26.451 7.088 753.165 422.765 48.108 7.040 477.912

Water Resources Raw Water Distribution
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3(a) Analysis of water fixed assets cont’d 
 

Infrastructure 

Assets

Operational 

Assets

Other tangible 

assets
Subtotal

Infrastructure 

Assets

Operational 

Assets

Other tangible 

assets Subtotal Total

Gross replacement cost £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Gross replacement cost at 1 April - 834.553 20.903 855.456 6,617.692 902.796 20.904 7,541.393 9,794.491

AMP adjustment - - - - - - - - -

Reclassification adjustment - - - - - - - - -

RPI adjustment - 29.793 0.746 30.539 236.244 32.229 0.746 269.220 349.653

Disposals - (24.614) - (24.614) - (16.937) - (16.937) (41.934)

Addtions - 61.419 - 61.419 2.644 18.503 - 21.147 83.264

Gross replacement at 31 March - 901.151 21.650 922.801 6,856.581 936.591 21.651 7,814.822 10,185.474

Depreciation

Depreciation at 1 April - 516.991 14.023 531.014 - 294.058 18.987 313.046 1,010.623

AMP adjustment - - - - - - - - -

AMP adjustment - gross MEA revaluation - - - - - - - - -

AMP adjustment - amendement to remaining useful life - - - - - - - - -

Reclassification adjustment - - - - - - - - -

RPI adjustment - 18.456 0.501 18.957 - 10.498 0.678 11.176 36.079

Disposals - (24.614) - (24.614) - (16.937) - (16.937) (41.934)

Charge for the year - 24.679 1.677 26.357 - 11.897 1.476 13.374 49.873

Depreciation at 31 March - 535.512 16.201 551.713 - 299.516 21.142 320.658 1,054.642

Net book amount at 31 March - 365.639 5.448 371.088 6,856.581 637.075 0.509 7,494.165 9,130.832

Net book amount at 1 April - 317.562 6.880 324.443 6,617.692 608.738 1.917 7,228.347 8,783.868

Water Treatment Treated Water Distribution
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3(b) Analysis of sewerage fixed assets 
 

Infrastructure 

Assets

Operational 

Assets

Other tangible 

assets Subtotal

Infrastructure 

Assets

Operational 

Assets

Other tangible 

assets Subtotal

Gross replacement cost £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Gross replacement cost at 1 April 15,058.579 706.724 34.394 15,799.696 477.083 2,022.237 34.395 2,533.715

AMP adjustment 7,016.507 - - 7,016.507 - - - -

Reclassification adjustment - - - - - - - -

RPI adjustment 537.575 25.229 1.228 564.032 17.031 72.192 1.228 90.451

Disposals - (6.090) - (6.090) - (31.987) - (31.987)

Addtions 12.963 7.839 - 20.801 2.083 48.725 - 50.807

Gross replacement at 31 March 22,625.624 733.701 35.621 23,394.947 496.197 2,111.167 35.622 2,642.986

Depreciation

Depreciation at 1 April - 329.726 30.196 359.922 - 1,460.386 24.913 1,485.299

AMP adjustment - - - - - - - -

AMP adjustment - gross MEA revaluation - - - - - - - -

AMP adjustment - amendement to remaining useful life - - - - - - - -

Reclassification adjustment - - - - - - - -

RPI adjustment - 11.771 1.078 12.849 - 52.134 0.889 53.023

Disposals - (6.090) - (6.090) - (31.987) - (31.987)

Charge for the year - 15.734 2.645 18.379 - 43.333 3.582 46.915

Depreciation at 31 March - 351.141 33.919 385.060 - 1,523.866 29.383 1,553.250

Net book amount at 31 March 22,625.624 382.561 1.702 23,009.887 496.197 587.300 6.239 1,089.737

Net book amount at 1 April 15,058.579 376.998 4.197 15,439.774 477.083 561.851 9.482 1,048.416

Sewage Collection Sewage Treatment
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3(b) Analysis of sewerage fixed assets cont’d 
 
 

Infrastructure 

Assets

Operational 

Assets

Other tangible 

assets Subtotal

Infrastructure 

Assets

Operational 

Assets

Other tangible 

assets Subtotal Total

Gross replacement cost £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Gross replacement cost at 1 April - 263.656 34.395 298.050 - - - - 18,631.462

AMP adjustment - - - - - - - - 7,016.507

Reclassification adjustment - - - - - - - - -

RPI adjustment - 9.412 1.228 10.640 - - - - 665.123

Disposals - (13.470) - (13.470) - - - - (51.547)

Addtions - 20.312 - 20.312 - - - - 91.921

Gross replacement at 31 March - 279.910 35.622 315.533 - - - - 26,353.466

Depreciation

Depreciation at 1 April - 95.279 25.910 121.189 - 0.004 - 0.004 1,966.414

AMP adjustment - - - - - - - - -

AMP adjustment - gross MEA revaluation - - - - - - - - -

AMP adjustment - amendement to remaining useful life - - - - - - - - -

Reclassification adjustment - - - - - - - - -

RPI adjustment - 3.401 0.925 4.326 - - - - 70.198

Disposals - (13.470) - (13.470) - - - - (51.547)

Charge for the year - 4.730 5.491 10.221 - - - - 75.514

Depreciation at 31 March - 89.940 32.326 122.266 - 0.004 - 0.004 2,060.580

Net book amount at 31 March - 189.970 3.297 193.266 - (0.004) - (0.004) 24,292.886

Net book amount at 1 April - 168.376 8.485 176.861 - (0.004) - (0.004) 16,665.048

Sludge DisposalSludge Treatment
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3(c) Analysis of retail fixed assets 
 
 

Infrastructure 

Assets

Operational 

Assets

Other tangible 

assets Subtotal

Infrastructure 

Assets

Operational 

Assets

Other tangible 

assets Subtotal Total Total

Gross replacement cost £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Gross replacement cost at 1 April - 124.947 - 124.947 - 34.229 - 34.229 159.176 28,585.129

AMP adjustment - - - - - - - - - 7,016.507

Reclassification adjustment - - - - - - - - - -

RPI adjustment - 4.460 - 4.460 - 1.222 - 1.222 5.682 1,020.458

Disposals - (2.200) - (2.200) - - - - (2.200) (95.681)

Addtions - 3.735 - 3.735 - 0.608 - 0.608 4.342 179.527

Gross replacement at 31 March - 130.942 - 130.942 - 36.059 - 36.059 167.001 36,705.941

Depreciation

Depreciation at 1 April - 85.128 - 85.128 - 24.674 - 24.674 109.802 3,086.840

AMP adjustment - - - - - - - - - -

AMP adjustment - gross MEA revaluation - - - - - - - - - -

AMP adjustment - amendement to remaining useful life - - - - - - - - - -

Reclassification adjustment - - - - - - - - - -

RPI adjustment - 3.039 - 3.039 - 0.881 - 0.881 3.920 110.197

Disposals - (2.200) - (2.200) - - - - (2.200) (95.681)

Charge for the year - 6.018 - 6.018 - 1.788 - 1.788 7.806 133.193

Depreciation at 31 March - 91.985 - 91.985 - 27.343 - 27.343 119.328 3,234.549

Net book amount at 31 March - 38.958 - 38.958 - 8.716 - 8.716 47.673 33,471.392

Net book amount at 1 April - 39.820 - 39.820 - 9.554 - 9.554 49.374 25,498.290

Retail Household Retail Non-household
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3(d) Meters 
 

Retail 

household

Retail non-

household

Gross replacement cost £m £m

Gross replacement cost at 1 April 2011 111.501 34.170

RPI adjustment 3.980 1.220

Additions 1.723 0.280

Gross replacement cost at 31 March 2012 117.204 35.670

Depreciation

Depreciation at 1 April 2011 86.740 24.671

Charge for year 8.649 2.592

Depreciation at 31 March 2012 95.389 27.263

Net book amount at 31 March 2012 21.816 8.408

Net book amount at 1 April 2011 24.761 9.499

 

 

 

4 Working capital 
 

2012 2011

£m £m

Trade debtors

- measured household 8.5 7.4

- unmeasured household 28.6 26.0

- measured non-household 4.2 2.3

- unmeasured non-household 1.1 0.9

- other 8.7 8.4

Measured income accrual 63.6 61.6

Prepayments and other debtors 2.8 1.7

Trade creditors (46.3) (33.2)

Deferred income - customer advance receipts (60.5) (56.7)

Short term capital creditors (27.3) (31.4)

Accruals and other creditors (7.7) (6.4)

(24.3) (19.4)  
 
 

5 Movement on reserves of the appointed business 
2012 2011

£m £m

a) Profit and loss account

At 1 April (181.8) (323.5)

Current cost profit for the year 85.1 145.2

Pension scheme actuarial loss net of deferred tax (21.5) (3.5)

Dividends paid (50.0) -

At 31 March (168.2) (181.8)

a) Current cost reserve

At 1 April 22,338.5 21,131.5

RPI adjustments:

- fixed assets 910.3 1,290.8

- working capital (0.7) (0.9)

- financing (47.1) (68.9)

- grants and contributions (10.2) (14.0)

At 31 March 23,190.8 22,338.5
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6 Reconciliation of current cost operating profit to net cash flow from operating activities for the appointed business  

 

2012 2011

£m £m

Current cost operating profit 224.2 210.3

Working capital adjustment (0.7) (1.2)

Movement in working capital 8.9 (12.0)

Current cost depreciation 131.8 123.0

Current cost disposal of fixed assets (0.1) 0.4

Infrastructure renewals charge 65.7 60.2

Other non-cash profit and loss items (13.0) 27.9

Net cash flow from operating activities 416.8 408.6

 
 
 
 

7  Analysis of net debt 
 

1 April Cash Non-cash 31 March

2011 flow items 2012

£m £m £m £m

Net cash

Cash at bank and in hand (21.5) 5.6 - (15.9)

Liquid resources

Current asset investments 81.8 194.7 - 276.5

Group receivables

Debt owed by parent company, due after more than one year 370.5 (50.0) - 320.5

Debt

Finance leases (741.8) 7.7 - (734.1)

Debt falling due within one year (14.6) 14.6 (65.4) (65.4)

Bond issue costs 5.8 0.8 (0.4) 6.2

Indexation of intercompany loan (199.5) (9.2) (52.1) (260.8)

Accrued interest (45.0) (0.5) 4.6 (40.9)

Debt falling due after one year (1,765.7) (145.0) 15.5 (1,895.2)

(2,760.8) (131.6) (97.8) (2,990.2)

Net debt (2,330.0) 18.7 (97.8) (2,409.1)
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7  Analysis of net debt cont’d 

Maturity profile Fixed rate

Floating 

rate

Index-

linked Total

Cash at bank and in hand (15.9)

Short term deposits 276.5

Debt owed by group company 320.5

Accrued interest (40.9)

540.2

Borrowings:

- less than one year (6.7) (70.5) - (77.2)

- between one and two years (7.6) (22.1) - (29.7)

- between two and five years (68.3) (126.9) - (195.2)

- between five and twenty years (741.1) (591.9) (769.4) (2,102.4)

- in more than twenty years - (75.1) (469.7) (544.8)

(823.7) (886.5) (1,239.1) (2,949.3)

Net debt (2,409.1)

Interest rate risk profile

 
 
The fair value of derivative financial instruments is not disclosed in the Regulatory Accounts, and the impact of these 
instruments is, accordingly, not taken into account in the interest rate risk profile shown above. However, the Group has 
entered into swap transactions which do not qualify for hedge accounting, as disclosed in the statutory financial statements 
prepared under International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
 

8 Regulatory capital value 
 
The table below shows the regulatory capital value (RCV) used by Ofwat in 2009 in setting the price limits for 2011-12 at 2011-
12 prices. Differences between the figures shown below and actual expenditure/charges for the year will not affect the price 
limits in the current regulatory period. Capital efficiencies will be taken into account in the calculation for the next periodic 
review in 2014. 
 

£m

Closing RCV at 31 March 2011 3,981

Indexation (inflating from 2010/11 prices to 2011/12 prices) 142

Opening RCV at 1 April 2011 4,123

Capital expenditure (excluding IRE) 207

Infrastructure renewals expenditure 77

Infrastructure renewals charge (69)

Grants and contributions (13)

Current cost depreciation (145)

Outperformance of regulatory assumptions (9)

RCV at 31 March 2012 4,171

Average RCV during the year 4,087  
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9 Operating cost activity tables 
 

Activity costing analysis – water service 
2012 2011

Water resources

Raw Water 

Distribution

Water 

treatment

Treated water 

distribution

Water service 

total Water resources

Raw Water 

Distribution

Water 

treatment

Treated water 

distribution

Water service 

total

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Direct costs

Employment costs 0.809 0.023 5.514 6.723 13.069 0.411 0.026 6.304 8.315 15.056

Power 2.384 3.311 7.202 3.836 16.733 1.954 3.165 6.568 3.937 15.624

Hired and contracted services 0.945 - 3.599 13.594 18.138 2.014 0.065 3.272 10.942 16.293

Materials and consumables 0.072 0.026 5.659 1.036 6.793 0.066 0.005 5.851 0.866 6.788

Service charges 9.639 - 0.326 - 9.965 9.677 - 0.323 - 10.000

Bulk supply imports 1.510 - - 0.723 2.233 - - - 0.620 0.620

Other direct costs 0.297 0.065 0.599 0.504 1.465 0.447 0.122 0.909 1.042 2.520

Total direct costs 15.656 3.425 22.899 26.416 68.396 14.569 3.383 23.227 25.722 66.901

Operating expenditure

General and support expenditure 1.152 0.293 7.014 8.229 16.688 3.376 0.830 6.018 7.800 18.024

Scientific services - 1.536 1.926 4.473 7.935 1.801 - 2.529 3.946 8.276

Other business activities 0.251 0.251 0.251 0.251 1.004 0.275 0.275 0.275 0.275 1.100

Total business activities 0.251 1.787 2.177 4.724 8.939 2.076 0.275 2.804 4.221 9.376

Local Authority rates (0.390) 1.011 1.439 12.566 14.626 1.228 0.952 1.344 11.829 15.353

Total opex costs less third party services 16.669 6.516 33.529 51.935 108.649 21.249 5.440 33.393 49.572 109.654

Third party services - opex 2.827 0.822 1.333 2.623 7.605 1.692 0.456 2.757 3.101 8.006

Total operating expenditure 19.496 7.338 34.862 54.558 116.254 22.941 5.896 36.150 52.673 117.660

Reactive and planned maintenance (including opex)

Reactive and planned maintenance infrastructure - - - 5.566 5.566 0.643 - - 19.877 20.520

Reactive and planned maintenance non-infrastructure 0.272 0.024 4.001 1.050 5.347 0.513 0.044 6.111 0.890 7.558

Capital maintenance

Infrastructure renewals charge (excluding third party services) 1.572 0.421 (0.573) 34.544 35.964 2.154 6.344 - 26.871 35.369

Current cost depreciation 0.737 9.126 26.640 12.874 49.377 0.912 8.346 25.387 11.746 46.391

Amortisation of deferred credits (0.008) (0.101) (0.283) (0.144) (0.536) (0.009) (0.095) (0.246) (0.127) (0.477)

Capital maintenance excluding third party services 2.301 9.446 25.784 47.274 84.805 3.057 14.595 25.141 38.490 81.283

Third party services - CCD - 0.389 - 0.644 1.033 - 1.464 - 1.325 2.789

Third party services - IRC - 0.007 0.573 0.580 1.160 - - - 0.476 0.476

Total capital maintenance 2.301 9.842 26.357 48.498 86.998 3.057 16.059 25.141 40.291 84.548

Total operating costs 21.797 17.180 61.219 103.056 203.252 25.998 21.955 61.291 92.964 202.208  
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9 Operating cost activity tables cont’d 
 

Activity costing analysis – retail services 
2012 2011

Retail 

household

Retail 

household 

general & 

support memo

Retail non-

household

Retail non-

household 

general & 

support memo

Retail services 

total

Retail 

household

Retail 

household 

general & 

support memo

Retail non-

household

Retail non-

household 

general & 

support memo

Retail services 

total

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Direct costs

Billing 2.075 1.840 0.158 0.148 2.233 2.099 1.325 0.164 0.084 2.263

Payment handling, remittance and cash handling 0.964 0.809 0.088 0.061 1.052 1.133 0.493 0.091 0.024 1.224

Debt management 5.495 1.874 0.270 0.141 5.765 4.959 2.192 0.259 0.108 5.218

Doubtful debts 19.371 - 7.582 - 26.953 15.614 - 6.615 - 22.229

Non network customer enquiries and complaints 3.713 3.117 0.338 0.236 4.051 3.542 4.803 0.327 0.379 3.869

Meter reading 1.857 1.559 0.169 0.118 2.026 1.811 2.391 0.167 0.188 1.978

Network customer enquiries and complaints 2.027 1.123 0.333 0.167 2.360 1.922 0.460 0.594 0.060 2.516

Disconnections - - 0.354 0.247 0.354 - 0.170 0.244 0.040 0.244

Demand side water efficiency initiatives - 0.045 - - - - - - - -

Services to developers - - 0.669 0.075 0.669 - - 0.990 0.100 0.990

Support for trade effluent compliance - - 0.080 0.008 0.080 - - 0.423 0.043 0.423

Other direct costs 0.604 0.102 (0.017) - 0.587 0.605 0.145 0.341 0.036 0.946

Total direct costs 36.106 10.469 10.024 1.201 46.130 31.685 11.979 10.215 1.062 41.900

Operating expenditure

General and support expenditure 10.469 1.201 11.670 11.979 1.062 13.041

Scientific services - 0.020 0.020 - - -

Other business activities 0.186 0.186 0.372 0.268 0.268 0.536

Total business activities 0.186 0.206 0.392 0.268 0.268 0.536

Local Authority rates 0.374 0.036 0.410 0.230 0.020 0.250

Total opex costs less third party services 47.135 11.467 58.602 44.162 11.565 55.727

Third party services - opex - 0.053 0.053 - - -

Total operating expenditure 47.135 11.520 58.655 44.162 11.565 55.727

Capital maintenance

Current cost depreciation 6.083 1.807 7.890 6.834 2.002 8.836

Amortisation of deferred credits (0.065) (0.019) (0.084) (0.066) (0.020) (0.086)

Total capital maintenance 6.018 1.788 7.806 6.768 1.982 8.750

Total operating costs 53.153 13.308 66.461 50.930 13.547 64.477

 
 



81 
 

Current cost notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2012 cont’d 

 
 
 

9 Operating cost activity tables cont’d 
 

Activity costing analysis – sewerage service 
2012 2011

Sewage 

collection

Sewage 

treatment

Sludge 

treatment Sludge disposal

Sewerage 

service total

Sewage 

collection

Sewage 

treatment

Sludge 

treatment Sludge disposal

Sewerage 

service total

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Direct costs

Employment costs 4.765 8.603 1.181 0.090 14.639 3.306 8.826 2.242 0.219 14.593

Power 5.417 10.627 0.075 - 16.119 4.043 10.898 3.417 - 18.358

Agencies 0.976 - - - 0.976 - - - - -

Hired and contracted services 6.957 3.315 3.090 2.393 15.755 5.400 3.265 3.203 2.442 14.310

Materials and consumables 0.309 1.785 2.717 - 4.811 0.258 1.795 2.310 - 4.363

Service charges 1.718 3.489 - - 5.207 1.720 3.280 - - 5.000

Other direct costs 0.420 0.537 0.138 0.048 1.143 0.489 0.932 0.348 0.093 1.862

Total direct costs 20.562 28.356 7.201 2.531 58.650 15.216 28.996 11.520 2.754 58.486

Operating expenditure

General and support expenditure 6.342 10.552 1.675 0.363 18.932 4.704 8.406 2.346 1.098 16.554

Scientific services 0.001 1.711 0.031 0.003 1.746 1.732 0.812 0.272 - 2.816

Other business activities 0.251 0.246 0.246 0.246 0.989 0.274 0.274 0.274 0.274 1.096

Total business activities 0.252 1.957 0.277 0.249 2.735 2.006 1.086 0.546 0.274 3.912

Local Authority rates 0.090 11.057 0.033 0.002 11.182 0.049 6.917 0.039 - 7.005

Total opex costs less third party services 27.246 51.922 9.186 3.145 91.499 21.975 45.405 14.451 4.126 85.957

Third party services - opex - 0.003 - - 0.003 0.195 - - - 0.195

Total operating expenditure 27.246 51.925 9.186 3.145 91.502 22.170 45.405 14.451 4.126 86.152

Reactive and planned maintenance (including opex)

Reactive and planned maintenance infrastructure 5.694 - - - 5.694 6.395 - - - 6.395

Reactive and planned maintenance non-infrastructure 1.613 1.906 0.406 0.003 3.928 2.858 3.428 0.339 - 6.625

Capital maintenance

Infrastructure renewals charge (excluding third party services) 27.344 1.250 - - 28.594 27.505 0.105 - - 27.610

Current cost depreciation 18.576 47.419 10.331 - 76.326 18.113 47.967 9.705 - 75.785

Amortisation of deferred credits (0.198) (0.504) (0.110) - (0.812) (0.176) (0.465) (0.094) - (0.735)

Capital maintenance excluding third party services 45.722 48.165 10.221 - 104.108 45.442 47.607 9.611 - 102.660

Third party services - CCD - - - - - - - - - -

Third party services - IRC - - - - - - - - - -

Total capital maintenance 45.722 48.165 10.221 - 104.108 45.442 47.607 9.611 - 102.660

Total operating costs 72.968 100.090 19.407 3.145 195.610 67.612 93.012 24.062 4.126 188.812

 
 
 
 


